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THE UNACKNOWLEDGED WIFE OF
GEORGE THE FOURTH

Tae Morning Herald of the 27th of July 1784 pre-
sented its readers with the following by no means

apparently important piece of Society intelligence :—

A new constellation has lately made an appearance in the
Jashionable hemisphere that engages the attention of those
whose hearts are susceptible to the power of beauty. The
widow of the late Mr. F—h—t has in her train half our young
Nobility ; as the lady has not, as yet, discovered a partiality
for any of her admirers, they are all animated with hopes of
success.

Little did the writer of this paragraph, or any of
his readers, or even the new beauty herself, imagine
what a strange destiny was reserved for her.
Although but twenty-eight years of age, the lady
had been twice a widow. She was born in July
1756, and was the youngest daughter of Walter
Smythe, Esq. of Brambridge, in Hampshire; who
was the second son of Sir John Smythe, Bart., of
Eshe Hall, Co. Durham, and Acton Burnell Park,

A
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in Shropshire. Of her earlier days next to nothing
is known. The only story on record relating to her
childhood appears to be that, being taken by her
parents to see Louis the Fifteenth eat his solitary
dinner at Versailles, and seeing the King of
France pull a chicken to pieces with his fingers,
the novelty of the exhibition struck her fancy so
forcibly that, regardless of royal etiquette, she
burst into an uncontrollable fit of laughter. Hap-
pily the royal attention, thus directed to her, had
no worse consequences than the offer of a dish of
sugar-plums, which the King sent her by one of
his courtiers. In 1775, at the age of nineteen,
she was married to Edward Weld, Esq. of Lul-
worth Castle, Dorsetshire. This gentleman died
before the end of the same year. In 1778 she
was again married, this time to Thomas Fitz-
herbert, Fsq. of Swynnerton, Staffordshire, who,
three years later, left her again a widow, with a
jointure of £2000 a year. She then took up her
residence in a house on Richmond Hill, where
she attracted, as the notice in the Morning Herald
testifies, no small degree of general admiration.
Amongst the most ardent of her admirers was
George, Prince of Wales, then a handsome and

fascinating, but already dissipated young man of
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twenty-two, six years the lady’s junior. For some
time Mrs. Fitzherbert seems to have successfully
repelled the Prince’s advances; but, says her
relative, Lord Stourton, she was at length sub-
jected to a species of attack so unprecedented
and alarming that her resolution was shaken, and
she was induced to take the first step which
ultimately led to that union which the Prince so
ardently desired, and for the sake of which he
appeared ready to run any conceivable risk. One
day, Lord Stourton informs us :—

Keit, the surgeon, Lord Onslow, Lord Southampton, and
Mr. Edward Bouverie arrived at her house in the utmost con-
sternation, informing her that the life of the Prince was in
imminent danger—that he had stabbed himself—and that
only %er immediate presence would save him. She resisted
all their importunities, saying that nothing should induce her
to enter Carlton House. She was afterwards brought to share
in the alarm, but still, fearful of some stratagem derogatory
to her reputation, insisted upon some lady of high char-
acter accompanying her as an indispensable condition. The
Duchess of Devonshire was selected. They four drove from
Park Street to Devonshire House, and took her along with
them. She found the Prince pale, and covered with blood.
The sight so overpowered her faculties that she was deprived
almost of all consciousness. The Prince told her that nothing
would induce him to live unless she promised to become his
wife, and permitted him to put a ring round her finger. I
believe a ring from the hand of the Duchess of Devonshire
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was used upon the occasion, and not one of his own. Mrs.
Fitzherbert, being asked by me whether she did not believe
that some trick had been practised, and that it was not really
the blood of His Royal Highness, answered in the negative,
and said she had frequently seen the scar, and that some
brandy and water was near his bedside when she was called to
him on the day he had wounded himself.!

At the conclusion of this extraordinary scene
Mrs. Fitzherbert went home; and next day, re-
gretting what she had been persuaded to do, she
sent a letter of protest to Lord Southampton
and left the country. For a time she travelled
about in France and Switzerland, and made a
stay of some length in Holland, where she lived
on terms of intimacy with the Stadtholder and
his family. It was one of life’s little ironies that
just at the time of her intimacy with this family
the Princess of Orange was being negotiated for
as a wife for the Prince of Wales, and she was
subjected to a great deal of questioning as to
what she knew of his character. The Prince,
meanwhile, as we learn from Lord Holland, made
no secret of his passion and his despair at her
leaving England for the Continent. He went

1 Memoirs of Mrs. Fitzherbert, with an account of her Marriage with

H.E.H. the Prince of Wales, afterwards King George the Fourth, 1856, pp.
118-19.
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down more than once to St. Anne’s to talk with
Fox and Mrs. Armitstead on the subject, and
this lady describes him as crying by the hour,
and testifying to the sincerity, or at any rate the
violence, of his passion in the most extravagant
way—Dby rolling on the floor, striking his fore-
head, tearing his hair, and swearing that he would
abandon the country, forgo the crown, sell his
jewels and plate, and scrape together a competence
wherewith to fly with the object of his affections
to America. At the same time, he despatched
courier after courier with letters to his inamorata,
until she was induced first to promise that at least
she would not marry any other person, and then,
after being assured that his father would connive
at their union, that she would marry him; ‘on
conditions,” says Lord Stourton, ¢which satisfied
her conscience, though she could have no legal
claim to be the wife of the Prince.” She accord-
ingly returned to England in December 1785, and
on the 21st of that month was married to the
Prince of Wales in her own drawing-room, by a
Protestant clergyman, in the presence of her
uncle, Harry Errington, and her brother, Jack
Smythe. The certificate of this marriage, Lord

Stourton assures us, was in the handwriting of
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the Prince of Wales, and is still preserved
although, some time afterwards, at the earnest
request of the parties, Mrs. Fitzherbert cut off
the names of the witnesses, in order to save them
from the possible penalties of the law.

For more than a year all went merry as a
marriage-bell. Of course the air was alive with
rumours. Not only did the decorous newspapers,
when chronicling His Royal Highness’s promenades
at Brighton and elsewhere, point out that ‘Mrs.
F——" was one of his inseparable companions, but
during 1786 and 1787 the matter was the subject of
numerous none-too-delicate caricatures. In the last-
named year, however, the little rift within the lute
began to show itself. The Prince’s finances were
hopelessly embarrassed, and were brought formally
under the notice of Parliament. During one of the
discussions on this question, Mr. Rolle, a country
member, solemnly deprecated any debate on matters
that ¢ went immediately to affect our Constitution in
Church and State’ The allusion was extremely
vague, but everybody understood it to refer to the
current reports that a marriage had been solemnised
between the heir to the throne and a lady of the
Roman Catholic faith. The reports outside the

House were couched in no such ambiguous terms;
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and Horne Tooke, in one of his pamphlets, had
gone so far as to describe Mrs. Fitzherbert as,
‘both legally, really, worthily, and happily for this
country, Her Royal Highness the Princess of
Wales” In order to understand the consternation
occasioned by this announcement, it is necessary to
remember that by the Statute of William and Mary,
commonly called the Bill of Rights, ‘every person
who shall marry a Papist shall be excluded and for
ever be incapable to inherit the crown of this realm.’
And although it would undoubtedly have been held
that the Royal Marriage ‘Act of 1772, which ren-
dered null and void any marriage contracted by
any descendant of George the Second who should
be under the age of twenty-five, without the
previous consent of the King, or a twelvemonth’s
notice to the Privy Council, would have degraded
any such alleged marriage into a mere insignificant
ceremony, yet jurists were of opinion that this
would by no means have exempted the Prince from
the forfeiture of the crown, seeing that the nullity
of an illegal transaction does not do away with the
penalty attached to the performance of the act.
The Prince was no doubt genuinely alarmed at the
danger which threatened him: he was also desper-

ately in want of money. His friend Fox was
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consequently instructed to contradict the report of
the marriage in the fullest and most unqualified
terms. He therefore informed the House that it
was a miserable calumny, a low, malicious falsehood,
a monstrous invention. And when Mr. Rolle per-
sistently observed that they all knew there was an
Act of Parliament forbidding such a marriage, but
that there were ways in which the law, to the minds
of some persons, might have been satisfactorily
evaded, Fox replied that he did not deny the
calumny in question merely with regard to certain
existing laws, but that he denied it in toto—in
point of fact as well as of law. Moreover, on being
asked if he stated this on authority, he declared
that he did. On the strength of this emphatic
assurance, the Prince received an addition of
£10,000 a year to his income out of the Civil List,
a sum of £161,000 from the same source for the
discharge of his debts, and a further £20,000 on
account of the works at Carlton House. Nobody
has ever supposed that Fox made these assertions
without specific instructions from the Prince, and in
1854 Lord Holland published certain letters tending
to show how Fox was deceived.

Of course Mrs. Fitzherbert was deeply aggrieved.
Lord Stourton says that, at the time,
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Mrs. Fitzherbert was on a visit with the Hon. Mrs. Butler,
her friend and relative, and at whose house the Prince
frequently met Mrs. Fitzherbert. The Prince called the
morning after the denial of the marriage in the House of
Commons by Mr. Fox. He went up to Mrs. Fitzherbert, and,
taking hold of both her hands, and caressing her, said, ‘Only
conceive, Maria, what Fox did yesterday. He went down to
the House and denied that you and I were man and wife!
Did you ever hear of such a thing?’ Mrs. Fitzherbert made
no reply, but changed countenance and turned pale.!

She resolved to break with the Prince; but he
assured her that Fox’s statement was not authorised
by him, and promised her that it should be publicly
contradicted. It was a promise easier to make than
to carry out. Fox could not be expected to eat his
own words; and the Prince turned to Mr. (after-
wards Lord) Grey. Lord Holland relates that—
after George the Fourth’s death— Lord Grey
assured him that the Prince, after much preamble
and pacing in a hurried manner about the room,
exclaimed, ‘Charles certainly went too far last
night! You, my dear Grey, shall explain it.’
And then, in distinct terms, though with prodigious
agitation, owned that a ceremony had taken place.
Grey diplomatically declined the office of spokesman ;

and, after some exclamations of annoyance, the

1 Langdale, op. cit., pp. 29, 30.
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Prince said, ¢ Well, then, Sheridan must say some-
thing.” Sheridan accordingly took an early oppor-
tunity of commending the House for its delicate
forbearance in not making an inquiry or putting
questions to the Prince on the subject of the
reported marriage, and then went on to observe
that ‘he must take the liberty of saying, however
some might think it a subordinate consideration,
that there was another person entitled, in every
delicate and honourable mind, to the same attention ;
one whom he would not otherwise venture to
describe or allude to but by saying it was a name
which malice or ignorance alone could attempt to
injure, and whose character and conduct claimed and
were entitled to the truest respect.’! If these words
meant anything, they meant that Mrs. Fitzherbert
was not the Prince’s mistress, but his wife. But
after this mystification the House allowed the matter
to drop; and on the 30th of April we find the
Prince writing to Fox : ‘I feel more comfortable by
Sheridan and Grey’s account of what has passed
to-day.’

In 1788 Mrs. Fitzherbert moved into a house in
Pall Mall which had a private entrance into the
grounds of Carlton House. Rumour, of course,

! Moore’s Life of Sheridan, vol. i. ch. x.
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was still busy; and on the 10th of October of that

year the Morning Post was courageous enough to
publish the following inquiry :—

A QUESTION. — What is the reason that Mrs. Fitzherbert,
who is a lady of fortune and fashion, never appears at Court ?
She is visited by some ladies of high rank—has been in
public with them—and yet never goes to the Drawing Rooms
at St. James’s. This question is sent for publication by a
person who pays no regard to the idle reports of the day,
and wishes to have the mystery cleared up.

It is needless to say that this candid inquirer
never received any answer; and the public was
obliged to draw its own conclusions from the fact
that, although the lady in question never appeared
at Court, yet, wherever else the Prince of Wales
might happen to be, there was Mrs. Fitzherbert
also. It is not to be supposed, however, that the
Prince’s conduct was altogether without divagations.
Lord Malmesbury notes in his diary in 1792, for
instance, that Colonel Leger tells him the Prince
has been living with Mrs. Crouch, the beautiful
actress, and that Mrs. Fitzherbert piqued him by
treating this with ridicule and coquetting on her
side, with the result that his vanity was hurt, and
he was brought back, more under her influence

than ever. Not that, even when most under her
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influence, the Heir-Apparent was quite all that
might be desired as a domestic companion, as the
following extract from another diarist of the period,
Mr. Thomas Raikes, may be sufficient to show :—

He was young, impetuous, and very boisterous in his
character, and very much addicted to the pleasures of the
table. It was the fashion in those days to drink very hard,
and Mrs. Fitzherbert never retired to rest till her royal
spouse came home, But I have heard the late Duke of York
say that often, when she heard the Prince and his drunken
companions on the staircase, she would seek a refuge from
their presence under the sofa, when the Prince, finding the
drawing-room deserted, would draw his sword in joke, and,
searching about the room, would at last draw forth the
trembling victim from her place of concealment.!

One of the most unaccountable features in the
whole story is the kind and respectful treatment
which Mrs. Fitzherbert seems to have invariably
received at the hands of almost all the other
members of the Royal Family. That the rank and
file of London Society apparently thought none the
worse of a lady in her equivocal position, but evinced
towards her, as Raikes says, ¢ that nuance of respect
which tacitly acknowledged her elevated position,’
may of course be attributed to the desire of pay-
ing court to the Heir-Apparent. The friendship

1 4 Portion of the Journal kept by Thomas Raikes, Esq., from 1831 to
1847. New ed. 1858 ; vol. ii. pp. 29, 30.
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between her and the Dukes of York and Sussex and
other members of the Royal Family may perhaps,
though not so conclusively, be accounted for in the
same way. DBut that the strait-laced Queen, and
the moral, decorous, strictly Protestant, and most
autocratic King should have uniformly treated her,
as they appear to have done, not only with kindness
and respect, but even with tenderness and affection,
is unintelligible except on the supposition that they
regarded her as morally their son’s wife. And,
even in that case, one important point is still left
unaccounted for. George the Third was peculiarly
sensitive to mésalliances in the Royal blood, as he
chose to consider the marriage of any of his rela-
tives to any of his non-royal subjects. The Royal
Marriage Act of 1772! had originated in his dis-

1 This Act was highly unpopular with the public, who regarded it as
not only intolerably insulting to British birth and beauty, but as violat-
ing one of the first laws of our being. It gave rise to numerous jeux
d'esprit, of which the following is a favourable specimen :—

THE ROYAL MARRIAGE ACT.

Says Dick to Tom, ¢ This Act appears
The oddest thing alive ;

To take the crown at eighteen years,
The wife at twenty-five.

The thing a puzzle must remain ;
For as old Dowdeswell said,

“So early if one’s fit to reign
One must be fit to wed.”’
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pleasure at the marriages of two of his brothers—
that of the Duke of Cumberland with Mrs. Horton,
Lord Irnham’s daughter, and that of the Duke of
Gloucester with the Dowager Countess Waldegrave.
And his complaisance towards Mrs. Fitzherbert,
who, besides being a Papist, was the daughter of
a mere country gentleman of no particular rank or
influence, is therefore doubly remarkable. Mrs.
Fitzherbert, in fact, appears to have been commonly
regarded, both by the Royal Family and the general
public, if not quite as the Heir- Apparent’s wife, yet
as united to him by a solemn ceremony substituted
in place of a legal marriage; and she received in
all companies the consideration and respect which
the sanctity of such a relationship was calculated to
inspire. Sir William Wraxall says in his Post-
humous Memoirs that about 1789 her future des-
tiny formed an object of general curiosity. What
would she become, it was asked, under the approach-
ing Regency ? Many persons believed that as soon
as the Prince was free of certain existing restrictions
he would confer upon her a very high rank in the

peerage ; although Wraxall, while remembering that

Says Tom to Dick, ¢ The man ’s a fool,
Or knows no rubs of life ;

Good friend, tis easier far to rule
A kingdom than a wife !’
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George the first had made one of his mistresses
Duchess of Kendal, and another Countess of Dar-
lington, and that George the Second had created
Madame de Walmoden Countess of Yarmouth,
doubted whether any Minister in 1789 would
have advised or sanctioned the adoption by the
Regent of a similar measure.! We now know,
however, on the authority of Lord Stourton, that,
at a later date, Fox did propose to have the
rank of Duchess conferred on her, as the price
of her reconciliation with him, and that she
refused the title on the ground that she did
not wish to be regarded as another Duchess of
Kendal. On the whole, she seems to have lived
happily enough with the Prince up to the time
of his marriage with Caroline of Brunswick in
1798, when she retired with an annuity of £6000
a year.

The unhappy marriage with the Princess Caroline
was, according to Lord Holland, promoted by Lady
Jersey and Lady Harcourt with a view of counter-
acting the influence of Mrs. Fitzherbert. That the
Prince was, from first to last, strongly averse to

it is abundantly clear. A letter written in 1836

1 The Historical and Posthumous Memoirs of Sir Nathaniel William
Wrazall, ed. by H. B. Wheatley, F.S.A., 1884, vol. v. p. 294.
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by John, Duke of Bedford, shows how he nerved
himself to go through the ordeal :—

My brother [writes the Duke] was one of the two unmarried
Dukes who supported the Prince at the ceremony, and he had
need of his support; for my brother told me the Prince was
so drunk that he could scarcely support him from falling.
He told my brother that he had drunk several glasses of
brandy to enable him to go through the ceremony. There
is no doubt but it was a compulsory marriage.!

There is no doubt, as the Duke says, that great
pressure was brought to bear upon the Prince to
bring about this marriage; but what finally decided
him to take the plunge was, once again, want of
money. He was always in pecuniary difficulty.
The Duke of Wellington knew that on one occa-
sion Mrs. Fitzherbert had been obliged to borrow
money to pay for the Prince’s post-horses to take
him to Newmarket.®* He himself acknowledged to
Lord Malmesbury, in 1792, that his debts then
amounted to £370,000, and that he had recently
had several executions in his house® And in
Huish’s Memoirs of George the Fourth there is a
curious story of the pawning of the State jewels

! Memoirs of the Whig Party during my tume, by Henry Richard, Lord
Holland, vol. ii. 1854, pp. 122-3.
2 Grenville Memoirs. New edition, 1888, vol. ii. p. 194.

* Diaries and Correspondence of James Harris, First Earl of Malmes-
bury, 1844, vol. ii. p. 450.
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in order to save Mrs. Fitzherbert from being
arrested for a debt of £1825.' More money the
Prince must have, and he consented to marry
Caroline when he was assured that by so doing
his actual income, exclusive of the sum set apart
for the payment of his debts, should be raised to
£100,000 a year. It was not the first time that
his character was sacrificed to his embarrassments.
Fox’s formal denial, eight years previously, that
any marriage ceremony had taken place with Mrs.
Fitzherbert does not appear to have entirely re-
moved all apprehensions on the subject. Sir William

Wraxall says in his Memovrs :—

I know that Dr. Moore, then Archbishop of Canterbury,
when reading the matrimonial service in the Chapel Royal,
gave unequivocal proofs of his apprehension that some
engagement of a moral or religious nature antecedently con-
tracted by the Prince might form a bar to the union which
he was about to celebrate; for when he came to the words
relative to ‘any person knowing of a lawful impediment,’
he laid down the book and looked earnestly for a second or
two at the King, as well as at the royal bridegroom. The
latter was much affected, and shed tears. Not content with
this tacit allusion to the report, the Archbishop twice repeated
the passage in which the Prince engages to live from that
time in nuptial fidelity with his consort.2

1 Memoirs of George IV., by Robert Huish, vol. i. p. 266.
2 Wraxall, op. cit., vol. v. p. 391.
B
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The last-mentioned fact Wraxall says he had from
the Duke and Duchess of Dorset, and the former
fact from the Dowager Duchess of Rutland, all of
whom were present at the ceremony. It is ome
of the many curious anomalies in this strange story
that, in spite of the Prince’s public marriage to the
Princess Caroline, the belief in the sanctity of his
previous private marriage still enabled Mrs. Fitz-
herbert to maintain her position in London society,
and to draw all the fashionable world, including
the Royal Dukes, to her parties. And it is even
more strange that when, no long time after, the
Prince desired to return to her, several members
of the Royal Family, male and female, urged her
to agree to a reconciliation. She agreed to abide
by the decision of the Pope on the matter; and
an envoy was sent to Rome to obtain his opinion.
Her marriage with the Prince was held to be per-
fectly valid, both as a contract and as a sacrament,
in the eyes of the whole Catholic Church; and she
was advised that she might return to live with
him without blame. Whereupon she gave a break-
fast at her own house, ‘to the whole town of
London,” to celebrate the event. The ensuing
eight years were, she always declared, the happiest
of her connection with the Prince. She used to
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say that they were extremely poor, but as happy
as crickets; and as a proof of their poverty she
told Lord Stourton that once, on their returning
to Brighton from London, they mustered their
common means, and could not raise £5 between
them. They had no children; but on the death
of one of her dearest friends, Lady Horatia Seymour,
she adopted that friend’s infant, Mary Georgiana, or
¢ Minnie’ as she was called ; to whom she became, as
the young lady herself testified, more than a mother.
When in London, they lived in a large house in
Tilney Street, Park Lane. The sixth Earl of Albe-
marle was a frequent visitor there in his boyhood,
and he has left us a record of some of the impressions
which remained with him after many years. His
visits, he says, were to the little lady of his own age,
who presented him to the Prince of Wales :—

His appearance and manners were both of a nature to pro-
duce a lively impression on the mind of a child—a merry,
good-humoured man, tall, though somewhat portly in stature,
in the prime of life, with laughing eyes, pouting lips, and a
nose which, very slightly turned up, gave a peculiar poignancy
to the expression of his face. He wore a well-powdered wig,
adorned with a profusion of curls, which, in my innocence, I
believed to be his own hair, as I did a very large pigtail ap-
pended thereto. His clothes fitted him like a glove, his coat
was single-breasted, and buttoned up to the chin. His nether
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garments were leather pantaloons and Hessian boots. Round
his throat was a huge white neckcloth of many folds, out of
which his chin seemed to be always struggling to emerge.

No sooner was His Royal Highness seated in his arm-chair
than my young companion would jump upon one of his knees,
to which she seemed to claim a prescriptive right. Straight-
way would arise an animated talk between ‘Prinny and
Minnie,’ as they respectively called themselves. As my
father was high in favour with the Prince at this time, I was
occasionally admitted to the spare knee and to a share in the
conversation, if conversation it could be called in which all
were talkers and none listeners.?

That the Prince remained devoted to Mrs. Fitz-
herbert for so long as he did speaks volumes for her
power of fascination. But his constitutional fickle-
ness ultimately gained the ascendant. The final
breach between them was, in Mrs. Fitzherbert's
opinion, distinctly traceable to some negotiations
which she and the Prince had with the Hertford
family, in consequence of attempts which were made
to wrest the guardianship of Minnie Seymour away
from her. At any rate, these negotiations brought
the Prince into constant intercourse with Lady
Hertford ; and not long afterwards, when at Brigh-
ton, His Royal Highness, after passing part of the
morning with her at her own house, on their usual

! Fifty Years of my Life, by George Thomas, Earl of Albemarle. 3rd
ed. 1877, pp. 18, 19.
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footing, would not so much as notice her in the even-
ing at the Pavilion, from fear that his action might
be reported to the rival lady. The climax came on
the 19th of June 1811, on the occasion of a dinner
given to Louis the Eighteenth. On all former
occasions, to avoid etiquette in circumstances of
such delicacy as her peculiar relation to the Prince,
it had been customary for them to sit at table with-
out regard to rank. On this occasion it was deter-
mined to alter the plan; and when Mrs. Fitzherbert
asked the Prince where she was to sit, he said:
“You know, Madam, you have no place.” To which
she replied : ¢ None, Sir, but such as you choose to
give me.’ She was thus excluded from the Royal
table, and soon after, says Lord Stourton, obtained
the reluctant consent of some of the members of the
Royal Family to finally close her connection with
the Prince.! The Queen and the Duke of York in-
terested themselves to get for her a mortgage on
the Palace at Brighton, to make her annuity of
£6000 perfectly secure; and for the rest of her life
she resided mainly at that favourite watering-place,
in a house on the Steyne, now the ¢Old Club,’ much
respected, and beloved for her benevolence and charity
to the poor.

1 Langdale, op. cit., p. 134.
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The year 1811, it will be remembered, was the
first of the Regency. Nine years later the Prince
ascended the throne as George the Fourth; and
soon after occurred his ill-advised attempt to get rid
of his Queen by a Bill of Divorce. When accused
of misconduct, Caroline is reported to have made
the retort that if she ever had committed adultery,
it was with nobody else than Mrs. Fitzherbert's
busband. George the Fourth, as we know, was
gathered to his fathers in 1830. During his last
illness Mrs. Fitzherbert wrote what Lord Stourton
tells us was ‘an affecting tender of any services she
could render him’; but, although she heard from a
trustworthy source that the King seized her letter
with eagerness and immediately placed it under his
pillow, no answer was ever returned. Nearly half
a century afterwards, Lord Albemarle first gave
publicity to the following curious and romantic
story, which was told to him by the present Earl
Fortescue, husband of the daughter of the Hon.
Mrs. Dawson Damer, Mrs. Fitzherbert's adopted
child. In the early days of their married life the
Prince had presented Mrs. Fitzherbert with a large
diamond. This jewel she had had divided into two
halves, and each half converted into a transparent

plate to cover a small miniature. Behind the one
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was the Prince’s portrait, which she reserved for
herself, and behind the other her own miniature, ‘
which she gave to him, and which, on their final
separation, was not returned to her. When on his
deathbed, twenty-seven years afterwards, the King
requested that he might be buried in the night-clothes
which he was then wearing. Lord Albemarle’s story

goes on :—

Almost immediately after he breathed his last, the Duke
of Wellington, his executor, arrived at Windsor Castle, and
was shown into the room in which the King lay. Left alone
with the lifeless form of his late sovereign, the Duke ap-
proached the bed, and then discovered round the King's neck
a very dirty and much worn piece of black ribbon. This, the
Duke, as he afterwards acknowledged, was seized with an
irrepressible desire to draw out. When he had done so he
found attached to it the jewelled miniature of Mrs. Fitzherbert,
which sufficiently accounted for the strange order given by
the King about his burial.

He therefore carried to his grave the image of her
who was perhaps, as Lord Albemarle remarks, the
only woman whom he had respected as well as loved.
There is an interesting little pendant to this story.
When the Duke related the incident to Mrs. Damer,
as he sat by her one day at dinner, ‘he actually

1 Albemarle, op. cit., pp. 376-7.
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blushed with the most amazing confusion for having
been guilty of yielding to an impulse plus fort que

lus.’

Soon after George the Fourth’s death, Mrs. Fitz-
herbert took occasion, when William the Fourth
was at Brighton, to show him the certificate of her
marriage, and other papers relating to her connection
with the late King. William the Fourth, says Lord
Stourton, expressed great surprise that she had
shown so much forbearance, under the pressure of
long and severe trials, when such documents were
in her possession. He asked her what amends he
could make, and offered to create her a Duchess.
On her declining this honour, he authorised her
to wear widow’s weeds for his Royal brother,
and insisted that she should always use the Royal
livery. He also took an early opportunity to intro-
duce her to his family, who ever after treated her as
one of themselves. Thomas Raikes says that she
maintained a very handsome establishment, both in
Tilney Street and at Brighton, that she was very
hospitable, and that her handsome dinners, services
of plate, and numerous train of servants in the Royal
livery, who had all grown old in her service, gave to
her house at least a seigneurial, if not a Royal ap-
pearance. And on the Continent her treatment
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was similar to that she received in England. Writing

from Paris in December 1833, she says :—

I have taken a very quiet apartment, and live very retired,
seeing occasionally some friends. The Duke of Orleans came
to see me the moment I arrived, with a thousand kind messages
from the King and Queen, desiring me to go to them, which
I accordingly have done. Nothing could exceed the kindness
of their reception of me: they are old acquaintances of mine.
. . . They have given me a general invitation to go there every
evening whenever I like it, which suits me very much.!

On her return to England in October of the follow-
ing year she writes to the same correspondent to
say the King had sent for her a day or two after her
arrival in London; that nothing could have been
more kind than his reception, and that he had made
her a very handsome present, which he said he had
had made expressly for her, but would not send it
during her stay on the Continent.

Previous to this continental journey in 1833, she
had determined, with the cordial sanction of William
the Fourth, to destroy all papers relating to her
connection with the late King, excepting the
marriage certificate, and one or two other docu-
ments, which she wished to preserve for the

vindication of her character. An agreement for

! Langdale, op. cit.
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this purpose was drawn up, which a rough copy,
still in existence in Lord Albemarle’s handwriting,

shows to have been to the following effect :—

It is agreed by Mrs. Fitzherbert on the one part, and the
executors of the will of the late King on the other, that each
will destroy all papers and documents (with the exception of
those hereafter mentioned) in the possession of either, signed
or written by Mrs. Fitzherbert or by her directions, or signed
or written by the late King, when Prince of Wales or King of
Great Britain, etc., or by his command. . . . Such papers and
documents as Mrs. Fitzherbert shall wish to keep shall be
sealed up in a cover, under the seals of the Duke of Welling-
ton and Sir William Knighton, and of the Earl of Albemarle
and Lord Stourton. The seals not to be broken excepting
with the knowledge of the Duke of Wellington, and Sir
William Knighton. It is understood that no copy of any
paper or document is to be taken or kept on either side.

Here follows a list of the papers and documents that Mrs.
Fitzherbert wishes to retain :—

(1) The mortgage on the palace at Brighton.

(2) Certificate of marriage, dated December 21, 1785.

(3) Letter from the late King relating to the marriage.

(4) Will written by the late King.

(5) Memorandum written by Mrs. Fitzherbert, attached to

the letter written by the clergyman who performed
the ceremony.!

In pursuance of this agreement the Duke of
Wellington met the Earl of Albemarle at Mrs.

! Albemarle, op. cit., pp. 374-b.
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Fitzherbert’s house in Tilney Street on the 24th of
August for the purpose of destroying the condemned
papers. ‘Some idea of the mass of manuscripts
committed to the flames may be formed,” says Lord
Albemarle’s son, ‘by an expression of the Duke to
my father after several hours’ burning: “I think,
my lord, we} had better hold our hand for a while,
or we shall set the old woman’s chimney on fire.”’
The five documents to be preserved were made into
a packet and deposited at Coutts’s Bank, where,
says Lord Albemarle (writing in 1877), they now
remain : ‘ They are declared to be “the property of
the Earl of Albemarle” ; they are, however, not my
property, but are held in trust by my brother
Edward, as my father’s executor.” We are, I think,
justified in drawing the inference that, had they
been the property of George Thomas, sixth Farl of
Albemarle, he would have broken the seals, and
made the public more fully acquainted with the
contents of the packet. For what other purpose,
indeed, were those papers so carefully preserved?
On the 7th of December 1833, Mrs. Fitzherbert
wrote to Lord Stourton, her relative and co-
religionist :—

I know I must have been a great torment to you, but I am
sure the kind feelings of your heart will derive some gratifi-
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cation in having relieved me from a state of misery and
anxiety which has been the bane of my life; and I trust,
whenever it shall please God to remove me from this world,
my conduct and character (in your hands) will not disgrace
my family and my friends.!

She died at Brighton the 29th of March 1837, at
the age of eighty-one, and was buried in the old
Catholic church there, in which will be found a hand-
some monument erected to her memory by the Hon.
Mrs. Dawson Damer, to whom, as the inscription
declares, ‘she was more than a parent’ No one
who knew her has ever spoken harshly of her.
Charles Greville’s diary is much fuller of blame
than of praise of any of his contemporaries, but
of Mrs. Fitzherbert, on hearing of her death, he
wrote: ‘She was not a clever woman, but of a
very noble spirit, disinterested, generous, homest
and affectionate, greatly beloved by her friends and
relations, popular in the world and treated with
uniform distinction and respect by the Royal Family.’
And even the Hon. Grantley Berkeley, whose four
volumes of more or less unpleasant Recollections
show him to have been almost constitutionally in-
capable of appreciating any but the lowest motives,
is forced to admit that she was ‘so thoroughly

1 Langdale, op. ctt., p. 108.
2 @reville Memontrs, vol. iii. p. 404.



OF GEORGE THE FOURTH 29

amiable and good-natured that every one who came
within the circle of her influence felt inclined to shut
his or her eyes against any cognisance of her true
position.’

I remember well [he says] her delicately fair, yet com-
manding features, and gentle demeanour. That exquisite
complexion she maintained, almost unimpaired by time, not
only long after the departure of youth, but up to the arrival

of old age; and her manner, unaffected by years, was equally
well preserved.!

In spite of all her trials and disappointments,
and her ultimate desertion by the Prince, she was

singularly free from any trace of malignity or

bitterness. She had a soul above all mercenary
views, and never took advantage of her position
of almost unbounded influence to enrich either her-
self or her relations. To the end she maintained
her station in society, in defiance of intrigue and
calumny. She discovered that the validity of her
marriage was not such as to justify her in founding
any public claim upon it, and she had too fine a
sense of honour to use it, as an unscrupulous and
vindictive woman could and undoubtedly would have
done, for the extortion of money and honours, or
perhaps even to secure her faithless Prince’s exclu-

1 Grantley Berkeley, op. ctt., vol. i. pp. 53-4.
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sion from the throne. Princess of Wales she was
not; but, as Lord Albemarle says, ‘as far as the
laws of her Church could make her so,’ she was the
wife of George, Prince of Wales.

The first occasion which seemed to call for the
production of the documents preserved in Coutts’s
Bank was Lord Holland’s assertion, in the second
volume of his Memoirs of the Whig Party, published
in 1854, that he had been told by a friend, ‘a man
of strict veracity,” that Mrs. Fitzherbert had herself
told him that it was the Prince who (not at her
request) had insisted on the ceremony of the 21st
of December 1785; that she well knew this to be
invalid in law, that in fact she thought it nonsense,
and told the Prince so. Mrs. Fitzherbert had con-
fided the defence of her reputation to Lord Stourton.
This nobleman died in 1846, but some time before
his death he had delegated this duty to his brother,
the Hon. Charles Langdale, supplying him with all
the papers and information he possessed bearing
upon the matter. On the appearance of Lord
Holland’s libellous statement, Mr. Langdale natur-
ally conceived that the time had arrived for him to
act, and he applied for permission to examine the
papers in the sealed packet at Coutts’s. The Duke
of Wellington was willing to agree to anything
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which Lord Albemarle might do in the matter ; but
Lord Albemarle died before Mr. Langdale could
obtain any decision from him, and his executor, the
Hon. and Rev. Edward S. Keppell, declined to allow
the papers to be seen. Mr. Langdale was therefore
forced to content himself with the publication, in the
Memotr which he issued in 1856, of a list of the
papers which, if produced, would, in his opinion,
reinstate the reputation of his deceased relative. It
is also to be regretted that, in consequence of other
limitations which Mr. Langdale imposed upon him-
self, his little volume fails to give anything like a
vivid or complete picture of what must have been
an exceptionally charming personality.

That George the Fourth was afraid of being com-
promised by these papers is evidenced by the anxiety
which he occasionally exhibited about them. Tom
Moore notes in his Diary that, being at Prince
Leopold’s assembly on the 16th of June 1825, just
when his forthcoming Life of Sheridan was begin-
ning to be talked about,

Lord Hastings expressed a wish to have a minute’s con-
versation with me, and on our reaching a retired part of the
room said that he heard I intended, in my forthcoming work,
to bring forward proofs of the King’s marriage with Mrs.
Fitzherbert. Instead of giving some uncertain answer which
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might have drawn from him an explanation of the object he
had in this inquiry, I answered that I had no such intentions,
nor, indeed, knew anything of the existence of such proofs,
but merely meant to allude to the constitutional consequences
which would have resulted from such a marriage had it taken
place. It is evident, I think, that the Carlton House people
have expressed some alarm on the subject, and that his lord-
ship volunteered his mediation to prevent what they dreaded.
But does not this look as if Lord Hastings was aware such
proofs exist 21

Greville says that George the Fourth was always
afraid lest Mrs. Fitzherbert should make use of
the documents in her possession to annoy or injure
him, and that he made various efforts to obtain
possession of them. On one occasion he sent Sir
William Knighton to Mrs. Fitzherbert for the
purpose, and this confidential agent, although a
stranger to her, called one day at her house, when
she was ill in bed, insisted upon seeing her, and
forced his way into her bedroom.” He brought
away nothing, for all his pains; but it was this
domiciliary visit, Greville says, which determined
her to make a final disposition of all the papers
she possessed, so that after her death no advantage

might be taken of them, either against her own

1 Memoirs, Journal, and Correspondence of Thomas Moore, ed. by
Lord John Russell, vol. iv. pp. 292-3, 1853.
2 Greville Memotrs, vol. iil. p. 404.
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memory or the interests of any other person. Had
she been a mercenary woman, she might have
obtained a large sum of money for these documents
and the mass of correspondence which it was in
her power to lay before the public. She used to
say that she could have given the best public and
private history of all the transactions of the country
from the close of the American War down to the
death of the Duke of York. All this valuable
historical material the Duke of Wellington and
Lord Albemarle were allowed to send up ‘the old
woman’s chimney.” The sealed packet of papers
in Coutts’s Bank, however, was put there for the
express purpose of being some day published for
the vindication of Mrs. Fitzherbert’s conduct and
character. Some time before his death, which
occurred in 1883, the Hon. and Rev. Edward
S. Keppel placed the packet of papers in question
under the control of his nephew, Lord Bury, on
the same conditions as those on which the trust
had been handed over to him. This Lord Bury
afterwards became seventh Earl of Albemarle, and
died in 1894. As there is no reference to the
matter in his will, it may be presumed that he
followed his uncle’s example, and made special

arrangements for the continuance of the trust. On
c












NELSON'S LADY HAMILTON

Tae true story of the beautiful siren who so indis-
solubly connected her name with that of England’s
greatest naval hero has but slowly disentangled
itself from a mass of fable. Southey’s references
to her, in his charming and still popular little Life
of Nelson, are not only meagre but misleading.
The anonymous author of the Memoirs of 1815
represented her as a mere vulgar demirep. And
Pettigrew, who, thirty-five years later, in his Life
of Nelson, gave what was certainly the first coherent
account of the enchantress’s career, was led by an
excessive credulity, and a want of documentary
evidence, into various errors of fact and of judg-
ment, which some subsequent biographers have
copied and enlarged upon. The consequence is
that we have such varying estimates of Lady
Hamilton as, on the one hand, the severe judg-
ment of her contemporary, Sir James Mackintosh,
who spoke of her as ‘a ferocious woman, who

lowered the illustrious name of an English matron
86



36 NELSON’S LADY HAMILTON

to the level of a Parisian fishwoman,” and, on the
other hand, the verdict of Mr. John Paget, who,
as late as 1888, was bold enough to claim for her
an honourable place in history, and to contend that
she was ‘entitled to the gratitude not only of
England, but of humanity in general.’

All the world learned, in 1805, that on October
21 of that year, immediately before the battle of
Trafalgar, when the combined fleets of France and
Spain were in sight, and the British ships were
being cleared for action, Nelson retired to his cabin,
and, after a prayer for a great and glorious victory,
wrote in his diary a remarkable codicil,” which was
duly witnessed by Captains Blackwood and Hardy,
wherein, on account of certain eminent services
which he alleged she had rendered to the British
fleet, he solemnly left Lady Hamilton as a legacy
to his country, with the request that a suitable pro-
vision might be made for her by Government. Also
that, but a few hours later, as he lay dying in the
cockpit of the Victory, almost his last articulate
words had been: ‘Remember that I leave Lady
Hamilton and my daughter Horatia as a legacy
to my country.’ Of course, for some years previ-
ously, rumour had been busy about the existence

of an illicit connection between the popular British
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admiral and the beautiful wife of the Ambassador
to the Court of Naples. But it is small matter
for wonder that the publication of this document,
and the report of the last words of the hero of
Trafalgar, should have created a deep and wide-
spread feeling that the solemn dying request of
such a man ought to have been held sacred by his
country. What is perhaps not quite so intelligible
is that, notwithstanding the very different com-
plexion which subsequent investigations have put
upon the matter, many people appear to be of the
same opinion still. Lady Hamilton continued to
the end of her life to memorialise Government for
a reward for her services; but, presumably because
those in authority were able to estimate these at
their true value, nothing was ever done for her.
It was not, however, until nearly eighty years after
her death that the real facts of the case were suffi-
ciently accessible for the general public to form a
Just judgment on the matter. But by the publica-
tion of the late Mr. Jeaffreson’s two books on the
subject, the printing of the valuable letters and
documents collected by Mr. Alfred Morrison, of
Fonthill, and the researches of Professor Laughton,
most of the disputed points in the career of this

remarkable woman have been cleared up. Some



38 NELSON’S LADY HAMILTON

of the offences laid to her charge have been found
to rest on no very good evidence, and some of the
patriotic services for which our admiration and
gratitude were demanded are seen to be greatly
diminished in degree and significance. KEven, how-
ever, if Nelson had not indelibly written her name
on the page of history, the life-story of the black-
smith’s daughter who raised herself from the con-
dition of a nursemaid to be the wife of an English
ambassador and the bosom friend of a Neapolitan
Queen, would still have remained as strange a story
as anything in the whole range of fiction.

The date of this siren’s birth has never been
ascertained with any degree of certainty. She was
in the habit of keeping April 26 as her birthday,
and the anonymous Memoir of 1815 gives the year
of her birth as 1761, which is the date adopted by
the Dictionary of National Biography. Pettigrew
states it to have been 1764; and Mr. Jeaffreson
concurs with the register of her death at Calais,
which, stating her age in January 1815 to have been
51, would make the year of her birth 1763. Petti-
grew and other biographers stated that she was
born at Preston, in Lancashire, and on the strength
of this she has been picturesquely termed °the last
of the Lancashire witches.” But the registers of
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“%the church of Great Neston, in Cheshire, where
she was baptized on May 12, 1765, transfer to that
county whatever honour may attach to the place of
her birth, and prove that she was the daughter of
Henry Lyon, blacksmith, of Nesse, and Mary, his
wife. According to the same register, the said
Henry Lyon was buried, at the same place, on
June 21 in the following year. After her husband’s
death, Mary Lyon, taking her infant with her, went
to live with her mother, Mrs. Kidd, who dwelt in
the village of Hawarden, since so well known as the
residence of the late Mr. Gladstone. Whether Mary
Lyon married again or not is unknown ; but, like
her celebrated daughter, she seems to have had a
fancy for changing her name. In a will made by
Lady Hamilton in 1806, she refers to ‘my dear
mother, formerly Mary Kidd, then Lions, and after
Mary Doggen or Cadogan.” We shall hear of her
again as Mrs. Cadogan. The child was christened
Amy, but she also signed herself, at various times,
Emly, Emily, or Emyly Lyon ; and from 1782 until
her marriage with Sir William Hamilton (when she
was careful to sign the register ‘ Amy Lyon’) she
passed by the name of Emma Hart. Of her earliest
years nothing whatever is known; but she must

have been still quite a child when, in the capacity
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of nursemaid, she entered the service of Mrs.
Thomas, wife of a surgeon practising at Hawarden ;
and she can hardly have been more than fifteen or
sixteen years of age when she first came to London.
Here, for a short time, she is said to have been in
service : first, with Mrs. Linley, of Drury Lane
Theatre; secondly, with Dr. Budd, one of the
physicians of St. Bartholomew’s Hospital ; and
finally at a fruiterer’s in St. James’s Market. One
of the customers at this shop, ‘a lady of fashion,’
attracted by the girl’s manner, her beautiful face,
and her wonderful auburn hair, engaged her in the
capacity of companion. But, fortunate as the
change at this time may have appeared to her, it
speedily put an end to her opportunities of earning
an honest living. No long time after, we hear of
ber as living for a time with Captain (afterwards
Admiral) John Willett Payne, who is by some
surmised to be the father of a girl to whom she
gave birth about the end of 1779 or the beginning
of 1780. However this may be, it is certain that,
before she had completed her seventeenth year,
she did give birth to a child, and that, as soon as
possible, it was transferred to the care of her old
grandmother at Hawarden. For some months she

is said to have been in great want, but in the course
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of 1780 she seems to have earned her living by
posing as Hygeia, or the Goddess of Health, in the
exhibition of that prince of quacks, James Graham.
In 1781 she lived, with some degree of extravagance,
as the mistress of Sir Harry Fetherstonehaugh, a
dissolute baronet, of Up Park, in Sussex, during
which time she is reputed to have become a daring
and highly accomplished horsewoman. But the
baronet, for some unexplained reason, abruptly dis-
missed her about Christmas of that year, when she
was within a few months of a second accouchement,
with no more money in her pockets than sufficed to
pay her travelling expenses to the home of her
grandmother at Hawarden. From this temporary
refuge she wrote to him again and again, but he
was evidently immovable in his determination to
sever the connection, for he never answered any of
her letters.

Among the friends of Fetherstonehaugh with
whom she had been intimate—possibly too in-
timate — at Up Park, was the Hon. Charles
Greville, second son of the Earl of Warwick;
and in her distress she now applied to him for
help. On January 7 or 8, 1782, she wrote to
him, from Hawarden, in terms which suggest a

considerable degree of previous familiarity :—
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Good God! what shall I dow? I have wrote 7 letters
and no answer. I cant come to town caus I out of money.
I have not a farthing to bless myself with, and I think my
frends looks cooly on me. . . . For God’s sake G. write the
minet you get this, and only tell me what I am to dow. . . .

I am allmos mad.!

It will be observed that the young woman had
original notions of spelling. But it must be re-
membered that to be able to write a letter at all
was by no means a common accomplishment
amongst village maidens at the end of the
eighteenth century. Of course she was quite
innocent of any attempt at punctuation, and she
was in the habit of plentifully besprinkling her
epistles with capital letters, not only at the be-
ginning, but frequently also in the middle of her
words. But she never fails to make her mean-
ing clear enough. Greville sent her money to
bring her to London as soon as she was in a
condition to travel, and made a bargain with her
as to the terms on which she might come to live
with him. Although an earl's son, he was, he
assured her, a poor man; but he could manage

to keep up a modest establishment, with a couple

1 Collection of Autograph Letters and Historical Documents formed by
Alfred Morrison. Second Series. The Hamilton and Nelson Papers.
Privately printed. 1893-4. Vol i. p. 78.
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of maidservants, at the rate of about £300 a year.
She might have her mother to live with her, and
he would see to it that her child did not want;
but she must absolutely give up all other con-
nections and old friends. She instantly closed
with the bargain; and in the spring of 1782
Greville and the young woman, who now called
herself Emma Hart, established themselves in a
small house in Edgware Row, immediately ad-
joining Paddington Green. She was then, if Mr.
Jeaffreson’s date be correct, just nineteen years
of age. Greville’s age was thirty-three. He was
a member of Parliament, a welcome guest in the
best London houses, a dilettante and connoisseur,
and also, apparently, a shrewd and capable man
of business, who knew how to make his £500 a

year go as far as many another man’s thousand. ’
The little rooms in Edgware Row were adorned
with pictures, statuary, rare mezzotints and other
engravings, and in these, as well as in his ancient
coins and mineralogical specimens, Greville taught
his young protégée to take an intelligent interest.
He likewise encouraged her to read poetry and
other works of imagination of his choosing; and he
went to some expense in providing her with

masters for singing and the pianoforte. Her



14 NELSON’S LADY HAMILTON

erratic spelling and handwriting he appears to
have discreetly left to take care of themselves;
but during the four years she lived with him a
very marked improvement in these, as well as
other matters, is distinctly noticeable.

Among the many apocryphal stories that have
been circulated about her is one to the effect that
she was the servant, the model, and the mistress
of Romney. Mr. Jeaffreson repudiates this with
much indignation, declaring that she never sat
as a paid model to anybody, and that her rela-
tions with Romney were always those of cordial
and respectful friendship. There is certainly no
evidence to the contrary. Greville introduced her
to the painter in 1782, and poor Romney was at
once captivated by her beauty, called her his
‘divine lady,’ and remained her devoted slave to
the end of his unhappy life. At various times he
painted no less than twenty-four portraits of her.
Perhaps no woman, not a professioﬁal model, was
ever so frequently painted. She was the original
of Sir Joshua’s ‘Bacchante,” sat to Hoppner and
to Laurence, and, in later days, to an endless
number of foreign artists. Pettigrew speaks of
the ‘splendid misery’ of her life with Greville;

but there appears to have been little misery; and
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undoubtedly there was nothing that could be
called splendour. Her mother, now known as
Mrs. Cadogan, lived in the house, and acted as
companion, cook, and housekeeper. From the
account-books which Emma scrupulously kept, and
which are now to be seen in the Morrison Collec-
tion, we find that she had two maids, who were
paid £9 and £8 a year respectively. Her own
allowance for clothes and pocket-money was the
modest sum of £20 per annum; and the greater
part of her time was spent in practising music
and singing, in both of which she attained to
great proficiency. It is also apparent that she
grew to have a strong and lasting affection for
the cold-blooded Greville, whom she idealised as
the kindest and best of living men. It is at the
same time equally apparent that, though Greville
had the greatest admiration for her beauty, and
a clear perception of her artistic and dramatic
faculty, which he spared neither pains nor expense
to foster, he never really loved her, and never for
one moment entertained any thought of ultimately
marrying her. He had much the same pride in
his personal possession of her as he would have had
in being the owner of the marble Venus de Medici.
In 1784 Greville's maternal uncle, Sir William
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Hamilton, Envoy Extraordinary to the Court of
Naples, came on a visit to London, and at once
went into raptures over the beauty of the young
woman whom he found domiciled with his nephew
in Edgware Row. Hamilton was a handsome and
remarkably young-looking widower of fifty-four, with
artistic and archeological tastes like his nephew ;
and during his stay in London Emma saw much of
him, and found him a very charming addition to her
very limited circle of acquaintance. According to
Mr. Jeaffreson,’ the uncle and nephew critically
discussed ‘the fair tea-maker’ as though she were
a chef d'euvre in a museum. ‘She is, I think,’
Greville is reported to say, ‘as perfect a thing as
can be found in all nature” And the uncle replies :
‘My dear Charles, she is better than anything in
nature. In her particular way she is finer than
anything that is to be found in antique art.’
Hamilton is also reported to have asked Emma
to be allowed, as a philosopher, to make her his
disciple, calling himself her Pliny the Elder, and
his nephew her Pliny the Younger.? Owing to
the fact that, about this time, Emma was sent
to the seaside with her mother and child while

! Lady Hamilton and Lord Nelson. By John Cordy Jeaffreson. 1888,
Vol i. p. 94 2 Ibid., vol. i. p. 96.
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Hamilton and his nephew paid a round of visits
to some of their aristocratic relations in the country,
we have a number of letters from her to the latter
which clearly show the footing on which the parties
had established themselves. She writes in June
1784 to say she has found lodgings ‘in the house
of a Laidy whose husband is at sea,’” at an inclu-
sive charge of a guinea and a half a week for her
mother, her child, and herself; that she begrudges
the shilling a day for the bathing-horse and woman,
and the twopence a day for the dress, but is some-
what consoled by thinking that it is at any rate
better than having to pay a doctor. A few days
later she informs him that ‘the wild unthinking
Emma is a grave, thoughtful phylosopher,” and she
hopes he will find her turn out to be ‘a valluable
and aimiable whoman.’ She asks him to apologise
to Sir William on her behalf for not having given
him a kiss before she came away; and in another
letter says: ‘I long to see you and dear Sir William.
Give my kind love to him. Tell him that next to
you I love him abbove any body.’

Before his return to Naples, Hamilton suggested
that Greville should bring Emma to stay some time
with him there, with a view, it seems, to getting

such tuition in music and singing as would qualify
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her for a professional career. But already the
nephew, if not the uncle, had another plan under
consideration. Greville looked upon himself as his
uncle’s heir ; but Hamilton was evidently a vigorous
and amorous widower who might very probably
marry again. The nephew’s income was too small
for his requirements, and his affairs were already
somewhat embarrassed. No profitable place had yet
been found for him by any of his influential relatives,
and he had thoughts of bettering his condition by
marrying an heiress. For this purpose it would be
necessary for him to get out of his entanglement
with Emma. And if he could but get his uncle to
take her off his hands he would not only be free
to pursue his own matrimonial projects, but at the
same time make it much less likely that Hamilton
would marry again, and so despoil him of his
prospective inheritance. It is a queer story. No
sooner was Hamilton back in Naples than Greville
began to bombard him with letters about his
financial troubles and his disinclination to throw
Emma on to the street. In January 1785 he

writes :—

She is certainly much improved since she has been with
me. She has none of the bad habits which giddiness and
inexperience encouraged, and which bad choice of company
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introduced. She has much pride, and submits to solitude
rather than admit of one improper acquaintance. She is
naturally elegant, and fits herself easily to any situation,
having quickness and sensibility.”?

Two months later he makes a direct appeal to his
uncle to take her from him, assuring him that he
would be much happier with her than with a second
wife, and backing up his request with the opinion of
Sir William’s brother, the Rev. Frederick Hamilton,
who appears to have offered the same unclerical, not
to say immoral, advice. He has been told that his
uncle 1s in love, knows that he loves variety, and is a

general flirt, wherefore :

I wish the tea-maker of Edgware Row was yours. . . . I
should not write to you thus if I did not think you seemed as
partial as I am to her. She would not hear at once of any
change, and from no one that was not liked by her. . . . If I
could go on I would never make this arrangement, but to be
reduced to a standstill and involve myself in distress farther
than I could extricate myself, and then to be unable to provide
for her at all, would make me miserable.?

He adds certain intimate personal details by way
of whetting the uncle’s appetite, though this was
searcely necessary, for Sir William was as willing as
Barkis. But both the conspirators, as Mr. Jeaffreson

1 Morrison Collection, vol. i. p. 96. 2 Itid., vol. i. p. 99.
D
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well calls them, saw clearly enough that there would
be much difficulty in effecting the proposed transfer.
Pettigrew represented Emma as complacently pass-
ing from the possession of the nephew to that of
the uncle, as a consideration for the payment of the
former’s debts. But he cannot have read the cor-
respondence. It is abundantly clear that she had
conceived a strong affection for the cold-blooded,
cynical connoisseur, who had been kind to her in
her distress; though it seems equally certain that
he merely looked upon her as a collector regards
an exceptionally fine specimen in his museum. She
had rejected with contempt the offers of a wealthy
Mr. Willoughby, who, on condition of her leaving
the comparatively poor Greville to live with him, was
willing to give her a mansion in the West End of
the town, with carriages, servants, diamonds, and a |
liberal allowance of money. But ‘splendid misery’
was not the object of her ambition. She had even
declined two advantageous offers of honourable
marriage. Knowing all this, the two philosophical
Plinys concocted a plausible scheme to get her out
to Naples. Greville first prepared her mind for a
change of circumstances by speaking of his monetary
troubles, of the probability of his having to give up

housekeeping altogether unless some retrenchment
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were made, and of the certainty, in any case, of his
having to retire to Scotland for a time. Professing
great reluctance to leave her lonely and unprotected
in London, he persuaded her to write to Hamilton,!
reminding him of his invitation, and expressing her
willingness to pay a visit of six or eight months’
duration to Naples, it being understood that Greville
would follow, as soon as his difficulties were sur-
mounted, and bring her back again. This letter of
Emma’s was enclosed in one from Greville in which
the nephew instructed the uncle how to word his
reply, as well as favoured him with three or four
pages of advice on the best methods of managing
the young lady.? Hamilton, of course, duly wrote
to say he would be most happy to receive her and
to do his best to make her comfortable during
her stay in Naples. Accordingly, in April 1786,
she set out for Italy, accompanied by her mother,
and under the escort of Gavin Hamilton, the artist,
who by chance happened to be bound for the same
place.

Four days after her arrival she writes to Greville,
telling him Sir William has secured her pleasant
apartments not far from the Embassy, has provided
her with a boat, liveried servants, and a carriage,

Y Morrison Collection, vol. i. p. 110. 2 Ibid., vol. i. pp. 108-110.
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and that he has given her a beautiful gown and other
things. But she has already begun to feel uneasy.
She says i—

I dreaded sitting down to write, for I try to appear as
cheerful before Sir William as I could, and I am sure to cry
the moment I think of you. ... Therefore, my dear, dear
Greville, if you do love me, for my sake try all you can to
come hear as soon as possible. . . . I respect Sir William. I
‘have a great regard for him as the uncle and friend of you,
and he loves me, Greville. But he can never be anything
nearer to me than your uncle and my sincere friend. He
never can be my lover. . . . I belong to you, Greville, and to
you only.!

The following morning she adds a few agitated

sentences to the same letter :—

I have had a conversation this morning with Sir William
that has made me mad. He speaks—no, I do not know what
to make of it. But, Greville, dear Greville, wright some
comfort to me.

And a postseript says:—

For God’s sake wright to me and come to me, for Sir
William shall not be anything to me but your friend.?

She wrote him fourteen letters during the first
fourteen weeks of her absence, and to all of these
there was but one, and that an unsatisfactory, reply.
Meanwhile Sir William procured for her the best

1 Morrison, Collection, vol. i. p. 114. ? Ibid., vol. i. p. 115. -
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masters that Naples could afford for the Italian
language, for music, and for singing; and it is
characteristic of her that she threw herself into
these studies with unbounded enthusiasm. But,
all the while, week by week, she was writing to
her ¢dear, dear Greville’ to send her one letter, if
it were only a farewell. Life is insupportable with-
out him, she says, and her heart is broken. Her

final appeal was made on July 22 :—

I have lived with you five years, and you have sent me to
a strange place, and no one prospect but thinking you was
coming to me. Instead of which I was told I was to live,
you know how, with Sir William. No. I respect him; but
no, never. Shall he perhaps live with me for a little wile,
like you, and send me to England? Then, what am I to
dow? What is to become of me? ... Give me my one
guiney a week for everything and live with me and I shall
be contented.!

This passionate, pleading letter was crossed by one
in which the cynical Greville told her emphatically
that he would never live with her again in their
former relation, and entreated her, for his sake, as
well as for her own interest, to become his uncle’s
mistress. She answered in an explosive letter on
August 1, that if she were with him she would
murder him and herself too; but in her postscript

1 Morrison Collection, vol. i. p. 117.
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she adds a different kind of threat, in the words:
‘If you affront me, I will make him marry me.’
The younger Pliny doubtless thought he might
safely leave his uncle to take care that she never
did that! But this young peasant-girl was much
cleverer than either of her admiring philosophers
imagined; and she seems to have instantly set
patiently and cautiously to work to make herself
indispensable to Sir William Hamilton, with the
distinet aim of one day becoming his wife. She did
not let him have too easy a victory to begin with ;
and he appreciated her the more highly for the delay
and apparent reluctance with which she ultimately
acceded to his wishes. It was not until the end of
that year that she consented to take up her quarters
with him at the Embassy. But, as soon as she had
done so, her demonstrative affection knew no bounds.
Sir William took a house for her at Caserta, from
which it was necessary for him to be absent for a
day or so at a time. But, however short his absence
might be, she professed herself unable to live with-
out letters from him. On one occasion she gives
him four quarto pages in reply, of which the follow-
ing may serve for specimen :—

Oh, my dearest Sir William, I have just received your
dear, sweet letter. It has charmed me, I dont know what
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to say to you in words kind enough. Oh, how kind! Do
you call me your dear friend! Ah, what a happy creature is
your Emma! Me, that had no friend, no protector, nobody
that I could trust, and now to be the friend, the Emma, of
Sir William Hamilton 1

On another occasion, only two hours after he has
left her on a Thursday, with the intention of return-
ing the following Saturday, she writes to say she
shall count the hours and moments until she finds
herself in his kind, dear arms—*my friend, my All,
my earthly good, every kind name in one.’? The
elderly diplomatist appears to have had perfect faith
in her sincerity, but to our ears the words do not ring
true, as they did in the passionate letters to Greville.

All direct communication with the younger Pliny
ceased for a time. But about nine months after
taking up her residence in Sir William Hamilton’s
house she began a long letter to her former lover,
to which she added a page or so from time to time,
so that when, after receipt of a present from him,
she was sufficiently mollified to despatch the epistle,
it gave him a fairly full account of her doings during
the fourteen months that their intercourse had been
interrupted. ¢ Although you never think me worth
writing to,’ she begins, ¢ yet I cannot so easily forget

! Morrison Collection, vol. i. p. 127. 2 Tbid., vol. i. p. 128.
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you, and whenever I have had any particular
pleasure, I feel as though I was not right till I had
communicated it to my dearest Greville’ And she
goes on to tell him of her visits to Vesuvius; of her
singing lessons and singing triumphs; that Sir
William is very fond of her; that he has nine
pictures of her already, and the house full of artists
to paint more ; that Marchant is cutting her head in
stone, one man modelling her in wax, and another in
clay; that they always have good company, and
nobody is allowed to come unless they are civil to
her. She relates how she gave a concert after a
diplomatic dinner, and sang so well that Banti, ‘who
is first whoman at St. Carlo’s, exclaimed: ‘Just
God, what a voice!” How she was entertained by
Commodore Melville on board his ship, which gave
her a salute of twenty guns; how, in consequence of
the length of the festivities on board, she was too
late to dress for the opera, and consequently went
thither as she was, ‘drest all in virgin white, and my
hair in ringlets reaching allmost to my heals’; and
how the Commodore and his officers attended her
box, and behaved to her as though she were the
queen. She relates how the people of Ischia fell
down on their knees and begged her to grant them

favours on account of her likeness to the pictures of
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the Blessed Virgin; and a great deal more of a
similar character, written in no very legible hand-
writing, and in constant defiance of the rules of
grammar and orthography, but at the same time
giving a vivid word-picture of the various occurrences
which might well arouse the envy of many persons
of some literary pretensions.!

Of course the Signora Hart was not received at
Court, but she was free of the greater part of the
Italian society of Naples; and if some of the resi-
dent English held aloof, it appears to have been only
for a short time. In 1789 the Duchess of Argyll
(one of the beautiful Gunning sisters) made a pro-
longed stay in Naples, and was so attracted by
Emma that she took her completely under her wing.
It was probably her intimacy with this great lady
and with Lady Elcho, drawing as it did almost all
the English residents and tourists to acknowledge
and receive her, coupled with a report that the King
and Queen had spoken of the Signora Hart as an
example of feminine propriety which some of the
ladies of the Neapolitan nobility might do worse
than imitate, which turned the scale, a year or two
later, when Hamilton was undecided whether or not

to make her his wife. She had learned to speak

1 Jeaffreson, op. cit., vol. i. pp. 200-8.
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French iolerably, and Italian with great fluency.
Her voice, too, had developed beyond all expecta-
tion, and she had made great progress with her
music and singing. She tells Greville, in 1787, that
one night she sang fifteen songs, and left the people
at Sorrento with their heads turned; adding, with
a spice of maliciousness, ‘They were all nobility, as
proud as the devil, but we humbled them.” It was
in this year that Goethe saw her during his tour
in Ttaly; and in the Jtalienische Reise we have the
earliest notice of the ‘attitudes,’” which afterwards
became so famous. Writing from Caserta on March
16, 1787, Goethe says :—

Sir William Hamilton, who still resides here as ambassador
from England, has at length, after his long love of art, and long
study, discovered the most perfect of admirers [? specimens] of
nature and art in a beautiful young woman. She lives with
him: an Englishwoman of about twenty years old. She is
very handsome, and of a beautiful figure. The old knight
has had made for her a Greek costume, which becomes her
extremely. Dressed in this, and letting her hair loose, and
taking a couple of shawls, she exhibits every possible variety
of posture, expression, and look, so that at the last the
spectator almost fancies it is a dream. One beholds here in
perfection, in movement, in ravishing variety, all that the
greatest of artists have rejoiced to be able to produce.
Standing, kneeling, sitting, lying down, grave or sad, playful,
exulting, repentant, wanton, menacing, anxious—all mental
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states follow rapidly one after another. With wonderful taste
she suits the folding of her veil to each expression, and with
the same handkerchief makes every kind of head-dress. The
old knight holds the light for her, and enters into the exhibi-
tion with his whole soul. He thinks he can discover in her a
resemblance to all the most famous antiques, all the beautiful
profiles of the Sicilian coins—aye, of the Apollo Belvedere
itself. This much, at any rate, is certain—the entertainment
is unique.! ‘

Goethe admired her, and goes so far as to describe
her as ‘a masterpiece of the great artist—Nature’;
but he did not lose his head. About a month after
first seeing the ‘attitudes’ he mentions dining with
Hamilton again, when ‘Miss Hart displayed her
musical and melodious talents” And he goes on to
say :—

If I might allow myself a remark, which to be sure comes
with no good grace from a guest so politely entertained as
I have been, I should observe that our beauteous hostess
seemed to me by no means richly endowed in respect of
mind, and that the promise of her fair figure was by no
means made good by any expression of voice or language

betokening equal wealth of soul. Her singing itself has in
it no corresponding fulness.

Of course Sir William Hamilton could hardly

regard Emma with the detachment of mind char-

acteristic of the great German; and in December

1 Goethe’s Italienische Reise. Bohn’s translation, p. 199.
% Ibid., p. 331.
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of this year we find him writing enthusiastically
to his nephew concerning the improvement she
has made in manners, language, and music. ‘I
can assure you,” he says, ‘her behaviour is such
as has acquired her many sensible admirers, and
we have a good man society, and all the female
nobility, with the queen at their head, show her
every distant civility” 1In 1790 he delighted the
object of his admiration with a present of £500
worth of diamonds; and in the following year we
hear of her first great public assembly, when her
salons were thronged by some four hundred people,
including ‘all the foreign ministers and their
wives, all the first ladies of fashion, foreigners and
Neapolitans.” Sir William had long divined that
her object was marriage. Two years before this
he had discussed the matter with Greville, to
whom he wrote : ‘Certainly she would be welcome
to share with me, on our present footing, all I
have during my life; but I fear her views are
beyond what I can bring myself to execute, and
that, when her hopes on that point are over, she
will make herself and me unhappy. Hitherto
her behaviour is irreproachable, but her temper,
as you must know, unequal’ Emma, however,

managed to keep her naturally quick temper well
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under control, aided, as she assured Romney, by
“a diligent study of Hayley’s didactic poem on the
subject. And in 1791 she attained the object of
her ambition, for in that year Sir William brought
her with him to England for a few months, and
on September 6 they were quietly married at
Marylebone Church, the bride then being twenty-
eight and the bridegroom sixty-one years of age.
Queen Charlotte declined to receive Lady
Hamilton at Court, but on her way back to
Italy she had an audience of Marie Antoinette
in Paris, and was made the bearer of a letter to
the latter’s sister, Maria Caroline of Naples.
Shortly after her return she writes to her old
friend Romney to say she has been received with
open arms by all the Neapolitans of both sexes,
by all the foreigners of every distinction, has
been presented to the Queen by her own desire,
and is the happiest woman in the world. Lady
Malmesbury, who dined with the Hamiltons at
Caserta on Boxing Day 1791, writes to her sister,
Lady Elliot, that the Ambassador’s wife ‘behaves
as well as possible, and quite wonderfully con-
sidering her origin and education’® And at a

! Life and Letters of Sir Gilbert Elliot, first Earl of Minto. 1874
Vol. i. p. 402.
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later date she adds: ‘You never saw anything
so charming as Lady Hamilton’s attitudes. The
most graceful statues or pictures do not give
you an idea of them. Her dancing of the Tar-
antella is beautiful to a degree’' Her beauty
was now at its zenith. She is described as bhav-
ing a broad forehead, finely pencilled eyebrows,
blue eyes, a delicate nose with the slightest
possible aquiline curve, good teeth, a clear com-
plexion, the bust of a Juno, a head set on its
beautiful neck like a bit of antique sculpture, and
a splendid mass of auburn, or rich chestnut, hair,
which she sometimes let fall in ringlets to her
very feet. She appears to have risen to the duties
of her new position in a very creditable manner.
Writing six months after their marriage, Hamil-
ton says: ‘She has had a difficult part to act,
and has succeeded wonderfully, having gained, by
having no pretensions, the thorough approbation
of all the English ladies” A few years later,
however, she became extremely stout, owing in
great measure, it is to be feared, to a somewhat
excessive indulgence in the pleasures of the table.
She ate largely, and frankly declared herself to
be passionately fond of champagne. But she was

1 Minto, op. cit., vol. i. p. 406.
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by no means idle. On June 2, 1793, in a letter

to Greville, she says:—

I study very hard, and I have made great progress in
French and music. . . . The English garden is going on very
fast . . . it is Sir William’s favourite child, and booth him
and me are now studying botany, but not to make ourselves
pedantical prigs and to show our learning like some of our
travelling neighours, but for our own pleasure.l

It was in 1793 that Nelson (then Captain of the
Agamemnon), being sent by Lord Hood with des-
patches to Naples, first made the acquaintance of
the Hamiltons. He took a great liking to the
Ambassador, and told him with sailor-like blunt-
ness and cordiality, ‘ You are a man after my own
heart; you do business after my own way.” As to
her ladyship, he wrote home to his wife that she
was ‘a young woman of amiable manners, who
does honour to the station to which she is raised.’
Hamilton told his wife that their guest would some
day be a great man; but at that time she does not
seem to have taken much more notice of Nelson
than she would have done of any other naval officer
in a similar position. Her friendship with Maria

Caroline progressed apace, and in December 1794

1 Morrison Collection, vol. i. p. 117,
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we find the Hamiltons lodged in the Royal Palace
at Caserta, and the Queen supplying Emma with
horses, an equerry, ‘and her own servant in her
own livery every day’ No person can be so
charming as the Queen, she tells Greville, ‘and
if you should ever see a cursed book, written by
a vile French dog, with her character in it, dont
believe one word.” Several contemporary observers
have put on record their impressions of her lady-
ship at this period of her life, and it is interesting
to note how she is represented from different points
of view. An English aristocrat, Sir Gilbert Elliot,
afterwards Earl of Minto, who was in Naples in
1796, thus describes her :—

She is the most extraordinary compound I ever beheld.
Her person is nothing short of monstrous for its enormity,
and is growing every day. She tries hard to think size
advantageous to her beauty, but is not easy about it. Her
face is beautiful: she is all nature, and yet all art; that is
to say, her manners are perfectly unpolished, of course very
easy, though not with the ease of good breeding, but of a
barmaid; excessively good-humoured, and wishing to please
and be admired by all ages and sorts of persons that come
in her way; but, besides considerable natural understanding,
she has acquired since her marriage some knowledge of
history and the arts, and one wonders at the application
and pains she has taken to make herself what she is. With
men her language and conversation are exaggerations of
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anything I have ever heard anywhere, and I was wonderfully
struck with these inveterate remains of her origin.!

If we place over against this estimate the impres-
sion she had made, a few months previously, on
a simple naval officer—doubtless much less accus-
tomed to the society of ladies of rank and beauty
than was Sir Gilbert Elliot—it may perhaps enable
us better to understand the extraordinary effect
which she subsequently had upon Nelson. In
August 1796 a dinner was given on board the
Petrel, a small brig of war, to celebrate the Prince
of Wales’s birthday. Prince Augustus and the
principal people in Naples were present. The com-
pany sat down, according to the custom of the

country, at 1 p.m., when, says the Captain,

Royal toasts, songs, and every kind of mirth filled up
the time till five o’clock, in which the tars were not for-
gotten, for they in their turn drank their royal master and
success to the family in their favourite liquor, grog, and
afforded the company much entertainment from their songs
and their variety of sea amusements. But the loyalty of
that exquisite and charming lovely woman, Lady Hamilton,
outshone then, as upon every other occasion, the whole
party; for in the ecstasy of singing ‘God save the King’in
full chorus with the whole ship’s company she tore her fan
to pieces, and threw herself into such bewitching attitudes

1 Minto, op. cit., vol. ii. p. 364.
E
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that no mortal soul could refrain from believing her to be
an enthusiastic angel from heaven, purposely sent down to
celebrate this pleasant, happy festival.l

Wherever she went, Emma always carried her
mother with her, notwithstanding that the widow
of the village blacksmith was hardly the sort of
person one would expect to find very heartily wel-
comed in polite society. Mrs. St. George briefly,
but significantly, says: ¢Mrs. Cadogan, Lady
Hamilton’s mother, is—what one might expect!’
At an entertainment given in honour of the English
fleet at Naples, Mrs. Cadogan is reported to have
exclaimed, at the drinking of one of the toasts,
‘They may talk of their Lachrymee Christi and
stuff, but give me a glass of London gin before
a whole bottle of it!” Yet she was not only her
daughter’s cook and companion at Paddington, but
also her housekeeper and companion during the
time she was the bosom friend of the Queen of
Naples. In one of her letters to Greville in 1794
Emma says: ‘Mother’s love to you. She is the
comfort of our lives, and is our housekeeper. Sir
William dotes on her’ And a few years later,
writing on board the Foudroyant to the same corre-
spondent, she adds further particulars—

Journal of Rear-Admiral Bartholomew James, p. 294
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You cant think how she is loved and respected by all. She
has adopted a mode of living that is charming. She as a
good apartment in our house, always lives with us, dines, etc.
Only when she does not like it (for example at great dinners)
she herself refuses, and as always a friend to dine with her.
.. . The Queen has been very kind to her in my absence,
and went to see her, and told her she ought to be proud of
her glorious daughter.!

At a later date she became a similar institution in
the house of Lord Nelson. Lord Minto speaks of
sitting down to dinner some time in 1815 with
Nelson, his brother, the Dean, and Mrs. Nelson
and her children, when they had ¢Lady Hamilton
at the head of the table and Mother Cadogan at the
bottom.” But this is anticipating matters.

It was in 1796 that the circumstances occurred
during which Lady Hamilton is alleged to have
rendered Great Britain the first of those two great
services which justified Nelson in solemnly leaving
her as a legacy to his country. Lady Hamilton’s
own account, of the matter, which has been accepted
by Pettigrew, Southey, and other biographers, was
to the effect that, learning that a courier had
brought a private letter from the King of Spain
to the King of Naples, she prevailed on the Queen
to abstract this communication from the King’s

1 Jeaffreson, op. cit., vol. ii. p. 117.
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possession, and finding that it contained the King
of Spain’s declaration that he must withdraw from
the coalition and join France against England, she,
further, persuaded the Queen to allow her to make
a copy of the document, and then, as her husband
was at the moment lying ill and helpless, she herself
immediately despatched this copy by special mes-
senger to Lord Grenville, at a cost of £400 out of
her own private purse. That she persuaded Nelson
into a belief in this story is, of course, unquestion-
able. " And it is quite possible that something
happened which, at a later date, her treacherous
memory, aided by her extreme vanity, induced her
to believe of much more importance than it really
was. But the examination which Mr. Jeaffreson,
Professor Laughton, and others have made of the
papers in the Morrison Collection, the KEgerton
MSS. in the British Museum, and the official corre-
spondence from Naples and Spain preserved in the
Public Record Office, tends to show, first, that
there was no need to persuade the Queen of Naples
to divulge anything which touched the interests of
Great Britain, seeing that it was her determined
policy to do so, and that she had already provided
Sir William Hamilton with the key to the cipher

in which such documents were usually written ;
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secondly, that, so far from being able to spend £400
on a special messenger out of her private purse,
Lady Hamilton’s scanty allowance of £200 a year,
paid quarterly, had such calls upon it that, except
on quarter-days, she never had so much as £50 to
draw upon; and thirdly, although there is some
difficulty in identifying the letter on account of
a confusion of dates, the document appears to
have been sent by Hamilton himself in the usual
way.

The story of the second great service by which
Nelson declared Emma had earned the gratitude of
her country is related by Pettigrew as follows:
Captain Troubridge awakened Sir William Hamilton
about six o’clock one morning with a request from
Nelson that he would procure him permission to
enter Naples, or any of the Sicilian ports, to pro-
vision, water, ete., as, in default of this, he would
have to run to Gibraltar for the purpose, and so
lose the pursuit of the French fleet. Hamilton
accordingly went to Sir John Acton, the Prime
Minister, who immediately called a council to de-
liberate on the matter. Meanwhile, Lady Hamilton,
foreseeing a refusal, went to the Queen, who was still
in bed, and, after much urging, induced her to write
a letter, which she dictated, ‘to all the governors
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of the two Sicilies,” ordering them to receive and
to supply the British fleet with anything which
Nelson might require. The Xing and Council
refused Nelson’s application, as Lady Hamilton
had foreseen, on the ground that they could not
then break with France, and, we are told, Lady
Hamilton therefore secretly provided Nelson with
the letter which she had extracted from the Queen.
But an examination of the official documents demol-
ishes this story also. There was no council. A
letter from Sir William Hamilton, preserved in the
Foreign Office Records, says that he and Troubridge
went together to Sir John Acton, and did more
business in half an hour than they could have done
in a week in the usual official way, for Acton there
and then wrote them the requisite order on his own
authority, and Troubridge went off with it in his
pocket quite pleased and happy. Moreover, before
declaring that his ability to follow the French fleet
to Egypt, and consequently the victory of the Nile,
were due to an alleged letter obtained by Lady
Hamilton, Nelson might surely have remembered
that he was at the time in possession of express
instructions that, if he could not obtain supplies in
Sicily of that countryl’s free will, he was to take

what he wanted by force. At the same time, we

e —————
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need not hastily assume that Lady Hamilton was
of no service to her country at all. She was of
undoubted service as a go-between, and the incessant
correspondence between her and the Queen of Naples
served as a veil with which the latter judiciously
covered her diplomatic intercourse with the English
Ambassador, especially at those times when the
French party in Naples made it unsafe for Hamilton
to make his appearance at Court. Something more
than this, even, might perhaps be justly claimed
for her, on the strength of an involuntary tribute
to her influence in a letter from the French Ambas-
sador to Bonaparte in 1798, wherein it is said that
if only the Prime Minister, Acton, and the wife
of the Ambassador, Hamilton, could be removed
from Naples, the country would be very useful
for the projects which Napoleon then had in the
Mediterranean.

The French fleet was destroyed in the early part
of August 1798, and in September Naples was
thrown into a state of the wildest excitement by
the arrival of the victor of the Nile in its beautiful
bay. Led by the royal barge, a long procession of
boats, with flags and music, rowed out to meet the
Vanguard. Lady Hamilton was one of the first to

rush on board ; and when she saw the admiral, with
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his head still bandaged, and minus an eye and an
arm since their last meeting, she exclaimed, ‘O
God! is it possible?’ and fell fainting into the
hero’s one remaining arm. Nelson was weak from
the effects of his recent wound, and was glad enough
to be nursed into sound health by Lady Hamilton
at the British Embassy. The misgovernment, the
folly, and the treachery of the Neapolitans were quite
apparent to him; but he appears to have been
greatly flattered by the almost royal honours with
which he was received, and under Lady Hamilton’s
influence he soon came to form a strong attachment
to the reigning family. He was drawn into a pro-
mise that Naples Bay should never be left without
an English man-of-war. During the year and a
half following the battle of the Nile he and Lady
Hamilton were in constant association with one
another, and 1t cannot be denied that he devoted
himself almost exclusively, and sometimes even in
defiance of his Commander-in-chief, to the interests
of Emma’s royal friends. In December, in conse-
quence of circumstances which are matters of his-
tory, and need not be detailed here, the King and
Queen decided to fly to Palermo. This was a matter
of some danger and difficulty, as the lazzaron: were

bitterly opposed to their King and Queen leaving

]
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the capital, while, at the same time, the King and
Queen were equally determined not to go without
their money and valuables. But Lady Hamilton, as
Captain Mahan well says, was a brave and capable
woman, with a good deal of pagan virtue in her
make-up, and the whole correspondence relative to
this risky business was carried on with great address
by her and Maria Caroline, the well-known and
constant passing of letters between these two friends
averting all suspicion. Royal property to the value
of two millions and a half was conveyed to the shore
and stowed safely on board the English ships, and on
the night of the 21st, Nelson landed and brought
the whole royal family, with the Hamiltons, on
board the Vanguard, which at once set sail for
Palermo. Pettigrew gave credence to the story that
all the private property of the Hamiltons was left
behind and sacrificed to the mob, in order that no
suspicion of flight might be aroused by its removal ;
and Lady Hamilton estimated the loss on this
occasion at about £9000 worth of her own, and
£30,000 worth of Sir William’s property. It has
since been discovered that Sir William had taken
care to pack the bulk of his treasures and ship them
on board the Colossus. Although this vessel was

subsequently wrecked, sixteen cases were rescued
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from the waves, and the contents of these were sold
to Mr. Hope, of Deepdene, for 4500 guineas. When
Sir William afterwards memorialised Gtovernment
for compensation, Nelson stated the total estimated
loss to be £10,000. As for her ladyship’s personal
loss, it appears quite certain that she did not possess
property of anything like that value, and what little
she did possess she managed to carry away with her.
Some compensation they received from their Nea-
politan friends. When Naples was recaptured, the
King and Queen made them presents to the value
of £6000, including a richly jewelled portrait of
Ferdinand for the husband, and a gold chain with
miniature set in diamonds attached, and two coach-
loads of magnificent dresses for the wife. Pettigrew
would have us believe that, in addition to this,
Maria Caroline handed her dear friend a document
settling on her an annuity of £1000 for life, and that
the latter magnanimously destroyed the document,
lest her acceptance of such a sum might be mis-
construed in England. Seeing that Nelson had no
such scruple when, on being created Duke of Bronté,
he was also given by their Neapolitan Majesties an
estate worth £3000 a year, and remembering other
perversions of fact, due either to a superabundance

of imagination or a lack of memory, we may be
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fairly certain that the document endowing her lady-
ship with £1000 a year was never destroyed by her,
and for the very good reason that it was never in
existence.

Nelson’s relations with Lady Hamilton at Naples
had given rise to a good deal of comment, and some
of his officers expressed great concern at the ¢ many
severe paragraphs which have been put in the news-
papers’ on the subject; but their way of life at
Palermo created even greater scandal. Lady Minto,
writing to her sister in July 1800, mentions some of
the stories she had heard, on good anthority, con-

cerning ‘ the hero and his lady.’

Nelson and the Hamiltons [she writes] all lived together
in a house of which he bore the expense, which was enormous,
and every sort of gaming went on half the night. Nelson
used to sit with large parcels of gold before him, and generally
go to sleep, Lady Hamilton taking from the heap without
counting, and playing with his money to the amount of £500
a night. Her rage is play, and Sir William says when he is
dead she will be a beggar.!

Mr. Jeaffreson scouts the notion that Lady
Hamilton’s influence was in the slightest degree
detrimental to Nelson, so far as his public actions

and his duty to his country were concerned. But

1 Minto, op. cit., vol. iii. p. 139.
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Lord Minto regretfully noticed the diseredit which
this alliance had brought upon his friend ; and it is
too patent to be denied that it caused him on more
than one occasion to disobey the orders of Lord
Keith, his Commander-in-chief ; that it caused him
to miss capturing the Guillaume Tell, the last of the
French Egyptian fleet, which was taken by Trou-
bridge during one of his admiral’s absences with
Lady Hamilton ; that in July 1800 it caused Lord
Keith roundly to tell the Queen of Naples that
Lady Hamilton had had the command of the British
fleet long enough; and that, when Sir William
Hamilton was recalled to England, it caused Nelson
suddenly to discover that the state of his health
required that he should strike his flag and go home
likewise.

During their leisurely homeward journey in the
closing year of the eighteenth century, Emma was
presented by Lady Minto to their Imperial Majesties
at Vienna, and the whole party were entertained by
Prince Esterhazy for four days at Eisenstadt, where
they were daily feasted at a table served by one
hundred six-feet-high grenadiers, and Nelson’s health
was drunk to a flourish of trumpets and the firing of
cannon. On their arrival at Dresden, the Electress

declined to receive ¢ the lady of whom she had heard
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so much.” But she was made much of at the British
Embassy, where another visitor, Mrs. St. George
(afterwards Mrs. Trench, and mother of the arch-
bishop of that name), had a favourable opportunity
for drawing the full-length portrait which is to be
found in her bright and lively little diary. Lady

Hamilton, we are told,

is bold, forward, coarse, assuming, and vain. Her figure is
colossal, but excepting her feet, which are hideous, well
shaped. Her bones are large, and she is exceedingly embon-
point. She resembles the bust of Ariadne; the shape of all
her features is fine, as is the form of her head, and particularly
her ears; her teeth are a little irregular, but tolerably white;
her eyes light blue, with a brown spot in one, which, though a
defect, takes nothing away from her beauty and expression.
Her eyebrows and hair are dark, and her complexion coarse.
Her expression is strongly marked, variable, and interesting,
her movements in common life ungraceful ; her voice loud, yet
not disagreeable.r . . . I think her bold, daring, vain even to
folly, and stamped with the manners of her first situation
much more strongly than one would suppose, after having
represented Majesty, and lived in good company fifteen
years.?

It is certainly not a friendly portrait; and there are
even more disparaging touches. Lady Hamilton’s
passions are said to be vanity, avarice, and love for

1 Journal kept during a Visit to Germany in 1799-1800. Edited by
Dean (afterwards Archbishop) Trench, p. 75.
2 Mrs. St. George’s Journal, p. 79.
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the pleasures of the table; her singing in the last
degree of bad taste; her dress loaded, vulgar, and
unbecoming ; and her waist absolutely between her
shoulders. But with the ‘attitudes’ Mrs. St.
George is charmed, and finds herself unable to
account for the undeniable fact that a person so
coarse and ungraceful in common life should become
so highly graceful, and even beautiful, during their
performance. Sir Gilbert Elliot had, a few years
previously, noted the same contrast. After seeing

the ‘attitudes,” he wrote—

They set Lady Hamilton in a very different light from any
I had ever seen her in befofe; nothing about her, neither her
conversation, her manners, nor figure, announce the very
refined taste which she discovers in this performance, besides
the extraordinary talent which is needed for the execution.!

Soon after the arrival of the Hamiltons in
London, Nelson’s breach with his wife became final ;
and after 1801, whenever he was not on active
service, he and they lived together in London or at
Merton Place, as members of one family, sharing
expenses between them. One cannot wonder that
their earlier biographers were puzzled by the incon-
gruities of the strange story they had to tell. A
few months before his death, Sir William wrote : ‘I

! Minto, op. cit.
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know full well the purity of Lord Nelson's friendship
for Emma and me.” When he died on April 6, 1803,
his pillow was supported by his wife, while his right
hand was held by Nelson. And by a final codicil to
his will he bequeathed a copy in enamel of Madame
le Brun’s picture of Emma to ‘my dearest friend,
Lord Nelson, Duke of Bronté, a very small token of
the great regard I have for his lordship, the most
virtuous, loyal, and truly brave character I ever met
with. God bless him, and shame fall on those who
do not say Amen’ Nelson’s two sisters, Mrs.
Bolton and Mrs. Matcham, with their children, and
his brother, the Dean of Canterbury, were, and
remained, on friendly and even affectionate terms
with Lady Hamilton; and they completely broke
with Lady Nelson, of whom her husband declared
that nothing in her conduct had ever been other
than he would wish it to be. If clearer-sighted or
more disinterested friends disapproved, they were
diffident of expressing their feelings. Lord Minto,
for instance, after a visit to Merton Place in March

1802, thus expresses himself—

The whole establishment and way of life is such as to
make me angry as well as melancholy, but I cannot alter it,
and I do not think myself obliged or at liberty to quarrel with
him for his weakness, though nothing shall ever induce me to
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give the smallest countenance to Lady Hamilton, She looks
ultimately to the chance of marriage, as Sir W. will not be
long in her way, and she probably indulges a hope that she
may survive Lady Nelson. . . . She is in high looks, but more
immense than ever. She goes on cramming Nelson with trowel-
fuls of flattery, which he goes on taking as quietly as a child
does pap. The love she makes to him is not only ridiculous
but disgusting.!

For many years there was a mystery as to the
parentage of Horatia, and it is always likely to
remain a mystery how Sir William Hamilton and
others were hoodwinked in the matter. But, with-
out going into the details of the deception, and its
unravelment, it must be sufficient to say that
(despite Mrs. Gamlin’s book of elaborate special
pleading on the point) it has now been placed beyond
reasonable doubt that the ‘adopted’ daughter, who
was born in January 1801, two years before Sir
W. Hamilton’s death, was the offspring of Emma
and Nelson.

The melodramatic story first told by Harrison in
the book he wrote to order for Lady Hamilton, and
since given general currency to in the charmingly
written but not always accurate Life, by Southey,
according to which it was Lady Hamilton’s patriotic
exhortations which induced Nelson to take command

1 Minto, op. cit., vol. iii. p. 242.
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of the fleet immediately before the battle of
Trafalgar, has probably no better foundation than
her ladyship’s lively imagination. It is true, Nelson
had had his stores brought up to Merton from the
Victory in the summer of 1805, and that it was his
intention to rest awhile from his labours. He hoped
that a victory by Calder (of which he daily
expected to hear) would make it unnecessary for
him to go out again until October. But as soon as
Blackwood brought him the news that Villeneuve
had turned up with his squadron at Cadiz, he
expressed his instant readiness for action. ‘Depend
upon it, Mr. Blackwood,” he said, again and again, ‘I
shall yet give Mr. Villeneuve a drubbing.” That
Nelson sometimes became a laggard through Lady
Hamilton’s influence is unhappily too true ; but that
it was ever her part to exhort him by appeals to his
honour not to shirk what was obviously his duty is
not to be believed. In 1804, when he was cruising
off Toulon, she, in spite of express orders issued to
the fleet that no women were to be allowed on any
of the ships, implored to be allowed to go and live
on board the Victory, and in this, as in other cases, it
was he who had to urge her to let motives of interest
and affection yield to the stern dictates of duty.

There has been much misrepresentation of Lady
F



82 NELSON’S LADY HAMILTON

Hamilton’s financial position in the latter years of
her life. It has been stated that Sir William
Hamilton left her totally unprovided for, and more
than one writer has referred to her as ‘a deserted
widow.” But as a matter of fact, Sir William left
her a legacy of £800 and an annuity of £800,
chargeable on his Swansea estate, together with
plate, pictures, furniture, and other things to the
estimated value of £5000. In addition to this, from
1803 to the time of his death, Nelson allowed her
£1200 a year, to make up for the loss of her
husband’s pension. And when he died he left her
by will a legacy of £2000, an annuity of £500, the
Merton estate with house and furniture (valued at
between £12,000 and £14,000), and also, for a
specified term, the interest on the £4000 which he
settled on Horatia. Altogether her total inherit-
ance must have been equal to an income of £2500
a year. But gambling and general extravagance
quickly disposed of all her property. Two years
after Nelson’s death she was £8000 in debt; and in
November 1808 a committee of friends arranged
the assignment of Merton for the benefit of her
creditors, at the same time raising £3700 for her
immediate necessities. After the Merton establish-

ment was broken up, she lived first in Clarges Street
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and then for a time at Richmond. In 1810 she
appears to have been living in Bond Street, and
after that with a theatrical friend at Fulham. In
1813 she was arrested for debt, and was domiciled
for a time at Temple Place, within the rules of the
King’s Bench Prison. Thence she escaped in 1814,
by the assistance of Mr. Alderman Smith, and took
refuge with Horatia at Calais. Pettigrew gave
credit to a pathetic story, related to him by a Mrs.
Hunter, to the effect that this benevolent lady found
Lady Hamilton living in Calais, in the winter of
1814, in absolute want; that she surreptitiously
supplied her with food; and when she died, buried
her in a deal box, with a pall made out of an old
silk petticoat, procuring a half-pay dragoon officer,
in the absence of any Protestant minister in Calais,
to read the burial service. The story seems to have
been a fabrication. After the publication of Mr.
Paget’s Paradowes and Puzles, in 1874, Horatia
wrote to him affirming most positively that Mrs.
Hunter was never known to her! And Lady
Hamilton’s burial bill, now amongst the documents
in the Morrison Collection, shows that she was
buried, according to the rites of the Roman Catholic
Church, in an oak coffin, at a cost, including the

! Blackwood’s Magazine, May 1888,
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charge for priests, candles, and church expenses, of
£28, 10s., which money was paid by a Mr. Cadogan.!
And up to September 21, 1814, at any rate, she
seems to have been in a position to supply all her
reasonable wants comfortably enough; for, writing
on that date to her nephew, the Hon. Robert Fulke
Greville, asking for £100, part of her annuity in
arrear, she adds, by way of postscript :—

The best meat here five pence a pound, 2 quarts of new
milk 2 pence, fowl 13 pence a couple, ducks the same. We
bought two fine turkeys for four shillings, an excellent
turbot for half a crown fresh from the sea, partridges five
pence the couple, good Bordeux wine white and red fiveteen
pence the bottle, but there are some for ten sous halpeny.?

And even if Greville withheld payment of any
part of her annuity, on the ground that she had
assigned away a portion thereof, she had still
the interest of Horatia’s £4000 to live upon, and
need never have been in actual want. She died
on January 15, 1815.

The anonymous author of the Memoir of 1815
calls Lady Hamilton a modern Phryne, and Dr.
Doran will have her to be a modern Aspasia.
Neither comparison is peculiarly felicitous. And
Mr. Paget’s more recent proposal to place her on

1 Morrison Collection, vol ii. p. 372. 2 Ibid., vol. ii. p. 370.
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an historic pedestal, ‘with mingled pride and
shame, beside Judith and Joan of Are,’ is simply
unintelligible. Her earlier history is unhappily of
a by no means uncommon type. Many another
young peasant-girl, with the fatal gift of beauty,
has come to London, succumbed to temptation,
become for a short period the petted mistress of
some dissolute aristocrat, and then been cast upon
the streets with no prospect before her but that
of sinking to the lowest depths of shame. Emma
was certainly saved from the lowest depth of de-
gradation by the connoisseur, Greville, who, little
as he was worthy of it, inspired her with an ardent
and disinterested affection. This emotional experi-
ence, combined with the one-sided but real educa-
tion which he gave her, developed certain natural
gifts and hitherto dormant traits in her character,
and accident happened to fling her upon a stage
where she was able to play a leading part. Mr.
Jeaffreson indulged in somewhat indiscriminate
raptures over his heroine. There was surely no
need to gush through several pages merely be-
cause, when she was the wife of Sir William
Hamilton, and in receipt of an allowance of £200
a year for what she calls ‘nonsense,” she allowed
her old grandmother £20 a year instead of leaving
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her to starve. And after Emma’s lLaisons with
Captain Payne and the dissolute Sussex baronet,
however ready we may be to admit her generosity
and general truthfulness, we cannot highly applaud
the discretion of an advocate who describes her as
‘a delicate, pure-minded girl,’ and speaks of her
‘ whiteness of soul.’” Nevertheless, Mr. Jeaffreson’s
book cannot be read without much pity for his
heroine; and few will disagree with the verdict
of the late Lord Lytton, that ‘her letters to
Greville are in part extremely touching, evince
great warmth of affection, great goodness of heart,
and flashes of native talent as well as generosity,
contrasting all defects of education and rearing.’
The shock caused by Greville's duplicity and
cynical indifference seems to have aroused other
instincts. Vanity and love of admiration were,
and remained to the end, her dominant traits.
But the culture she first received in Kdgware
Row not only developed her fine voice and re-
markable powers of mimiery, but revealed an
exceptional cleverness in other respects, and begot
an ambition which, with unexpected self-control,
she steadily set herself to accomplish. The atmo-
sphere of the vile Court of Naples was at the

same time unfavourable to her simpler virtues.
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Mr. Jeaffreson himself admits that she went
there an honest mistress and returned an unfaith-
ful wife. Her natural vanity became colossal
with advancing age. Not only did it induce her
to believe that she had forced the Queen of
Naples to break with France, and so made her-
self a force in European politics, but in her later
days it rose to such a height that she even had
hopes of being buried beside Nelson in St. Paul’s
Cathedral! On the other hand, it must not be
forgotten that the exaggerated stories that have
received such wide currency as to her extrava-
gant immorality in early life, and her heartless
cruelty during the revolution in Naples, have
been proved to be unfounded calumnies. Mr.
Paget’s eulogium, in which we are gravely told
that ‘had she been less frail, had she possessed
fewer virtues or fewer faults, the whole course of
history might have been changed, and the Nile,
and even Trafalgar, have had no place in the
annals of England,’! is absurd enough. Although,
perhaps, a glance at the splendid illustrations

which adorn Mrs. Gamlin’s volume? will enable

1 Blackwood’s Magazine, May 1888.

% Emma, Lady Hamilton. By Hilda Gamlin. 4to. Liverpool, 1891.
A beautifully illustrated volume, produced in the forlorn hope of demon-
strating ¢ the impossibility of Lady Hamilton being Horatia’s mother.’












THE QUEEN OF THE ‘BLUE-
STOCKINGS’

TrHE origin of the term ¢‘blue-stocking,’ has been

a matter of some dispute. Boswell tells us in
his ZLife of Johnson that

About this time [1781] it was much the fashion for several
ladies to have evening assemblies, where the fair sex might
participate in conversation with literary and ingenious men,
animated by a desire to please. These societies were denomi-
nated ‘Blue-stocking Clubs,” the origin of which title, being
little known, it may be worth while to relate it. One of
the most eminent members of those societies, when they
first commenced, was Mr. Stillingfleet, whose dress was
remarkably grave, and in particular it was observed that
he wore blue stockings. Such was the excellence of his
conversation, that his absence was felt as so great a loss
that it used to be said, ‘We can do nothing without the
“ blue-stockings”’; and thus by degrees the title was
established.

Dr. Doran, commenting on this, declares that a
‘ Blue-stocking Club’ never existed; but that the
title ¢blue-stocking’ was conferred in derision upon

the ladies referred to by Boswell by some envious
89
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person who was not intellectually distinguished
enough to gain admittance to their parties. Accord-
ing to Dr. Brewer, however, the sobriquet is of
much greater antiquity. He assures us that so
far back as A.p. 1400 there was a society of ladies
and gentlemen in Venice who were thus distinguished
by the colour of their stockings; that this was the
parent of a similar society which, about 1590, be-
came the rage amongst the lady savantes of Paris;
and that, nearly two centuries later still, the craze
came from Paris to London, when ‘ Mrs. Montagu
displayed the badge of the Bas-bleu Club at her
evening assemblies” The balance of probability
inclines to show that it was the cerulean hose of
the ladies, and not those of Mr. Stillingfleet, which
gave rise to the term in England, and that Dr.
Doran was in error in assuming it to be merely an
outsider’s term of disparagement. Mr. Hayward,
in his edition of Mrs. Piozzi’s dutobiography, states
that he was allowed to make a copy of some notes
of a conversation between a lady (whose name he
does not give) and Lady Crewe in 1816, according
to which Lady Crewe asserted that her mother
(Mrs. Greville), the Duchess of Portland, and Mrs.
Montagu were the first to imitate the famous con-

versation parties of the Rue St. Honoré; that
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Madame de Polignac, one of the first guests, came
in blue silk stockings, then the newest Paris fashion ;
and that all the lady members of Mrs. Montagu’s
‘club’ adopted the mode. In further confirmation
of this, it was stated that a French gentleman,
writing an account of an evening he had spent at
Mrs. Montagu’s, expressly mentioned that ¢ they wear
blue stockings as a distinction.’

Whatever may have been the origin of the term
by which they were described, it is pretty clear that
previous to 1750 no such parties, for the purpose of
conversation only, had ever been held in London.
There is no reference to anything of the kind in the
letters or other writings of Addison, Steele, Swift,
or Pope; and although Lady Mary Wortley Mon-
tagu, Lady Hervey, the Duchess of Queensberry,
and others, were distinguished and courted as ladies
of intellectual taste and ability, no one of them ever
seems to have attempted to form anything in the
nature of the French salon. It is equally certain,
whoever may have the credit of being first in the
field, that about the year 1770, eleven years, that is,
before the date mentioned by Boswell, several ladies
were in the habit of holding more or less celebrated
assemblies of the kind in London. Hannah More

says that they were composed of persons distin-
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guished for their rank, talents, or respectable
character, and that they differed from other parties
only in devoting themselves to conversation instead
of cards. But, whether held at Mrs. Vesey’s, Mrs.
Ord’s, Mrs. Thrale’s, or Mrs. Montagu’s, any party
presided over by a lady, or to which ladies as well
as scholars were invited, became known as a ‘blue-
stocking’ assembly. Neither Mrs. Ord’s nor Mrs.
Vesey’s parties could bear comparison with those of
the other Liondon ladies, to say nothing of those of
their French prototypes. But if it be true, as Mr.
Hayward says, that only Holland House in its best
days would convey to persons living in our time
an adequate conception of the circle Mrs. Thrale
gathered round her at Streatham, certainly no less
praise must be given to ‘that brilliant society which
quoted, criticised, and exchanged repartees under
the rich peacock hangings of Mrs. Montagu,’ the
fashionable and intellectual lady who was emphati-
cally designated by Johnson himself as indisputably
‘Queen of the Blues’ In 1809 Mr. Matthew
Montagu, her nephew and heir, published two
volumes of his aunt’s letters; and in 1813 he fol-
lowed these up with two more volumes, containing
her correspondence down to the year 1761. 1In 1872

Dr. Doran founded a memoir of Mrs. Montagu on
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these documents, which he was happily able to
supplement by a batch of her letters, written be-
tween the last-named date and her death, which had
been picked up in manuscript at a sale of autographs.
One wonders that these vivacious letters have
never been reprinted; for, with a little judicious
pruning, they would form a moderate-sized volume
of exceptionally good reading. They show much
wit, keen observation, and not a little wisdom ; they
reveal the growth, almost from childhood to old age,
of a piquant as well as admirable personality; and,
covering as they do a period of something like
seventy-five years, they incidentally throw many an
illuminating sidelight on the manners and customs
of our forebears in the eighteenth century.

The lady came of a good family. Her father,
Matthew Robinson, was descended from a line of
Scottish barons, who, from 1610 to 1769, owned
the estate of Rokeby, since celebrated as the scene
of Sir Walter Scott's well-known poem. Her
mother was a beautiful heiress, who brought her
young husband more than one substantial estate.
Of the twelve children who were born to this
happily circumstanced couple, nine survived; and
Elizabeth and her sister Sarah grew up in the con-

stant companionship of seven affectionate brothers.
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They appear to have all been bright, lively, capable
children ; and we hear of a sort of family debating
society which they instituted among themselves,
both girls and boys taking part in the debates, and
obeying the rulings of their mother, who presided as
¢Mrs. Speaker” Both the sisters had a literary
bent; and Elizabeth is said to have copied out the
whole of the Spectator before she was eight years
old—a task which doubtless to-some extent accounts
for the precocious facility of her epistolary style.
The greater number of the letters she wrote between
the ages of twelve and twenty-two, were addressed
to a friend five years older than herself, Lady
Margaret Cavendish Harley, who in 1734 became
Duchess of Portland. Elizabeth’s younger years
were spent mainly in the country, at one or other of
her father’'s several estates, and she managed to
make country-life yield a good deal of amusement,
both to herself and to her various correspondents.
She was as fond of dancing, she says, as if she had
been bitten by a tarantula, and had often gone with
her brothers eight miles on a winter evening to
dance to the music of a blind fiddler, returning at
two in the morning, mightily pleased with her
entertainment. In 1738, when living at Horton in

Kent, she travelled the same number of miles (pro-
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bably to the same place) to see a play; and ‘after
the play, the gentlemen invited all the women to
supper at the inn, where we stayed until two
oclock in the morning.” Kven after that hour she
was able apparently to enjoy something in the
nature of an afterpiece, for she says, ‘Before I had
gone two miles (on the homeward journey) I had
the pleasure of being overturned, at which I squalled
for joy.” In relating a similar experience to another
correspondent, she adds, ‘One visits in the country
at the hazard of one’s bones; but fear is never so
powerful with me as to make me stay at home’;
contemplation, as she sagely observes, suiting pro-
digiously well with the gout or the rheumatism, but
‘not being made for a woman on the right side of
thirty.” As she was then only eighteen, the time
for contemplation must have seemed far enough off.
Country-life, however, even for girls, was not
entirely made up of plays and dances. Writing
to Miss Donellan, this precocious young lady

declares :—

I endeavour to drink deep of philosophy, and be wise
when I cannot be merry, easy when I cannot be glad, content
with what cannot be mended, and patient where there is no

redress. The mighty can do no more, and the wise seldom do
as much.
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In the summer of 1739 she was banished from
home for fear she should take the smallpox, which
had already attacked her sister; and the company
she was then thrown amongst was very little to her
taste. ‘If things were as in Afsop’s days,’ she
writes, ‘when beasts could talk, the country might
be a place of conversation’; but although she had
never yet heard a calf talk like a squire’s eldest son,
she has seen many a specimen of the latter who
talked and looked like a calf. She was therefore,
according to her own account, thrown back on
former ages for her associates; Cicero’s and
Plutarch’s heroes being the only available company.
In this condition of things, the prospect of a visit
to Bath was regarded with enthusiasm. But, at
any rate on first acquaintance, the gaiety of this
celebrated watering-place did not come up to her
expectations. Her friend the Duchess of Portland

was soon apprised of her experiences.

The day after I arrived, I went to the Ladies’ Coffee House,
where I heard of nothing but rheumatism in the shoulder
sciatica in the hip, and gout in the toe. I began to fancy
myself in the hospital or infirmary. ... ‘How d’yedo?’ is
all one hears in the morning, and  What is trumps?’ in the
afternoon. . . . As for the men, except Lord Noel Somerset
they are altogether abominable.

A few days later there is more in the same strain :—
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I should be glad to send you some news, but all the news
of the place would be like the bills of mortality. We hear of
nothing but, * Mr. Such-a-one is not abroad to-day.’ ‘Oh no,
says another, ‘poor gentleman, he died this morning.” Then
another cries, ‘ My party was made for quadrille to-night, but
one of the gentlemen has had a second stroke of palsy, and
cannot come. . . .’ Indeed the only thing one can do to-day

we did not do the day before is to die. Not that I would be
hurried by a love of variety and novelty to do so irreparable a
thing as dying.

Her visits to Bath and to Tunbridge Wells, however,
seem to have been a welcome change from the
monotony of country-house life; and she possessed
the enviable faculty of being always able to carry
her own gaiety and high spirits withersoever she
went.  There were visits to London also, when
Vauxhall and Ranelagh were in all their glory; and
in 1740 we find her at the Court of St James’s,
striking up what proved to be a lifelong friendship
with Mr. (afterwards Lord) Lyttelton.

About this time Miss Robinson’s friends seem to
have shown some anxiety to get her settled in life.
Her friend the Duchess of Portland had given her
the pet nickname of ‘Fidget’; and it was admitted
on all hands that ‘Fidget’ was not only a ‘most
entertaining creature,’ but also a beauty, who ought

to make a good match. She was much admired for
G
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the peculiar animation and expression of her blue
eyes; and her brilliant complexion contrasted well
with dark, highly arched eyebrows, and dark brown
hair. The miniature of her, in Anne Boleyn cos-
tume, painted by Zinck when she was twenty-four, of
which an engraving by Cooper is given in the first
volume of her letters, certainly shows an extremely
pleasing countenance. But the young lady was by
no means easy to please in the matter of suitors.
War was in the air then as it 1s now; but soldiers
she seoffed at as fops who would die of a panic and
save their enemy’s powder. Country squires were
still less to her taste. ‘To love calves one should
be a calf,’ she contended, and declared herself per-
fectly assured that the young squires, like calves,
really loved a dairymaid much better than the
likes of her. As for modern marriages in general,
she says, in language which sounds somewhat start-
ling from the mouth of a young damsel of twenty,
‘they are great infringers of the baptismal vow;
for it is commonly the pomps and vanities of this
wicked world on the one side, and the sinful lusts
of the flesh on the other.” A year or so previ-
ously, she had drawn a sketch of her ideal lover
for the Duchess of Portland, adding significantly :

‘T never saw one man that I loved.’
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The Dean of Canterbury was gravely informed :—

I have lately studied my own foibles, and have found that
I should make a very silly wife, and an extremely foolish
mother, and so have as far resolved as is consistent with
deference to reason and advice, never to trouble any man, or
to spoil any children.

But to her sister, who supposed she had bestowed
all her love on the heroes of antiquity, she wrote :
‘A living man is better than a dead hero’; and
‘I believe I shall do my errand before many people
think.” That errand she accomplished, very much
to her own, and apparently everybody else’s satis-
faction, in August 1742, when she was married to
Edward Montagu, Esquire, M.P. for Huntingdon,
who was much older than herself, but acceptable
to the young lady’s taste, as being a man of culture
and considerable intellectual attainments, and to
her prudence, as being a very wealthy coal-owner.
Young ladies of to-day will learn with some sur-
prise that in the eighteenth century it would have
been thought highly improper for a newly married
couple to go off on their honeymoon without a
chaperon, and that when Mr. and Mrs. Edward
Montagu set out for one of the bridegroom’s estates
in the North, the bride’s sister was their travelling

companion.
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The day after the wedding she wrote to her

Duchess - —

I have a great hope of happiness; the world, as you say,
speaks well of Mr. Montagu, and I have many obligations
to him which must gain my particular esteem; but such
a change of life must furnish one with a thousand anxious
thoughts.

There was no need for anxiety, as it happened.
Their thirty-three years of married life appear to
have been highly satisfactory to both parties,
though sadly clouded by the death, in infancy, of
their only child in 1744. Mr. Montagu was much
occupied with his coal-mines, the care of his various
estates, and occasionally with his parliamentary
duties. His relaxations seem to have been mainly
of a mathematical character; but he very wisely
left his young wife to do as she pleased, with the
result that, although she spent a good deal of
time in paying friendly visits to most of the great
houses of the country, she also threw herself with
enthusiasm into her husband’s business affairs. Their
correspondence shows that they always remained on
friendly and affectionate terms.

Mr. Montagu’s Yorkshire neighbours, however,
were not to her liking. She tells her Duchess

that they are ignorant, absurd, uncouth, and for
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the most part drunken and vicious, hypocrites and
profligates. She has been fortunate in not having
a single person overcome by drink in her house;
but most of the poor ladies in the neighbourhood,
she declares, have had more hogs in their drawing-
room than ever they had in their pigsty! At
Sandleford, in Berkshire, another of her husband’s
houses, she found much more congenial society.
But, wherever she might be, the salient character-
istics of her surroundings, pleasant or unpleasant,
are vividly sketched off for the benefit of one or
other of her correspondents. While staying at
Tunbridge Wells she met Dr. Young, author of
the Night Thoughts, and wrote a comical account
of her first interview with him. He improved on
acquaintance, and she really seems to have had
much admiration for his conversational power and
sterling sense; but she was perpetually poking fun
at him. After dining with her one day, he pro-
posed to escort her and another lady to view some
fine old ruins a few miles away from the town. The

manner of their journey is thus described :—

First rode the Doctor on a tall steed, decently caparisoned
in dark grey; next ambled Mrs. Holt on a hackney horse,
lean as the famed Rozinante, but in shape more resembling
Sancho’s ass; then followed your humble servant on a milk-
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white palfrey, whose reverence for humankind induced him
to be governed by a creature not half as strong, and I fear
scarce thrice as wise as himself. By this enthusiasm of his,
rather than my own skill, T rode on in safety, and at leisure
to observe the company, especially the two figures that
brought up the rear. The first was my servant, valiantly
armed with two uncharged pistols .. . the last was the
Doctor’s man, whose uncombed hair so resembled the mane
of the horse he rode one could not help imagining they
were of kin, and wishing, for the honour of the family, that
they had had one comb betwixt them; on his head was a
velvet cap, much resembling a black saucepan, and at his
side hung a little basket. ... To tell you how the dogs
barked at us, the children squalled, and the men and women
stared, would take up too much time.

What the ruins were like we know not, for,
happily, in place of an archzological or historical
disquisition, she gives us something infinitely more
bright and entertaining, namely, a life-like pen-
and-ink sketch of the vicar of the place.

The good parson offered to show us the inside of his
church, but made some apology for his undress, which was
a true canonical dishabille. He had on a grey striped
calamanco night-gown; a wig that once was white, but, by
the influence of an uncertain climate, turned to a pale orange;
a brown hat encompassed by a black hat-band; a band some-
what dirty, that decently retired under the shadow of his
chin; a pair of grey stockings, well mended with blue
worsted, strong symptoms of the conjugal care and affection
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of his wife, who had mended his hose with the very worsted
she had bought for her own.

From about 1750 onwards Mrs. Montagu endea-
voured to make her husband’s town-house in Hill
Street the centre of attraction, not only for people
of fashion, but for all who were in any way distin-
guished for their intellectual powers. In fact the
people of fashion were at a discount unless they
had other claims to her notice. Among the ladies
who were oftenest to be found there were the
Duchess of Portsmouth, Mrs. Greville (wife of
Fulke Greville), Mrs. Boscawen, and Johnson’s
friend, Mrs. Thrale. But there is frequent men-
tion also of Mrs. Carter, the learned translator of
Epictetus ; of Mrs. Chapone, a lady whose ¢superior
mental attainments’ were, says Wraxall, unfortun-
ately hidden beneath ‘a most repulsive exterior’;
of the estimable, if somewhat unduly moralising,
Hannah More; and of the modest and retiring,
but ever delightful Fanny Burney. Amongst the
men, first and foremost, of course, stands the figure
of the great Cham of literature, Dr. Johnson. But
in his suite were Sir Joshua Reynolds, Burke,
Garrick, Horace Walpole, Pulteney (afterwards
Earl of Bath), George, first Lord Lyttelton, Robert-

son, Blair, Gregory, and in fact all the scholars
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and literary men of the day. Rising literary
aspirants were not neglected; and authors like
Beattie, who came to London with his Minstrel
in 1771, were welcomed with no less cordiality
than were distinguished foreigners such as the
Abbé Raynal. Mrs. Montagu began with break-
fast-parties—a form of literary reunion which sur-
vived down to the days of Samuel Rogers and
Crabb Robinson. We are indebted to Madame
Bocage, a French lady who visited London in 1750,

for a description of one of these breakfasts :—

We breakfasted to-day at Lady (sic) Montagu’s, in a closet
lined with painted paper of Pekin, and furnished with the
choicest movables of China. A long table, covered with the
finest linen, presented to the view a thousand (!) glittering
cups, which contained coffee, chocolate, biscuits, cream,
butter, toasts, and exquisite tea. You must understand that
there is no good tea to be had anywhere but in London.
The mistress of the house, who deserves to be served at the

table of the gods, poured it out herself.

Madame Bocage adds the interesting detail that
the dress of the HEnglish ladies at these breakfast-
parties included a white apron and a pretty straw
hat. The manners of the English ladies, however,
seem to have been by no means as pretty as their
dress. Mrs. Montagu’s sister, writing to her

brother in Rome about this time, complains of
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the rate at which nobility are being made in
England, and adds: ‘Lady Townshend says she
dare not spit out of her window for fear of
spitting on a lord !’

In 1769 appeared Mrs. Montagu’s Essay on the
Genius and Writings of Shakespear, a reply to
Voltaire’s jealous strictures on our great dramatist.
The little book at first appeared anonymously,
but she soon became known as its author, and
subsequent editions, of which there were several,
were issued under her name. Burke, Reynolds,
Lyttelton, Cowper, and others, expressed much
admiration for the essay; but Johnson would not
admit that there was any real ecriticism in it.
When Reynolds observed that he thought it did
her honour, Johnson replied, ¢Yes, sir, it does her
honour, but it would do nobody else honour’
And when Garrick urged that she had at least
shown how much Voltaire had mistaken Shake-
speare, he sarcastically asked, ¢ What merit is there
in that?’ adding, ‘ You may as well praise a school-
master for whipping a boy who has construed ill.’
Johnson was always ready enough to commend
Mrs. Montagu’s conversation; but when she ven-
tured into the realm of serious authorship, he was

equally ready with his critical bludgeon. The essay
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on Shakespeare, however, is not a very illumin-
ating performance; and when Dr. Doran asserts
that it may still be read with pleasure, the present
writer, for one, is unable to agree with him. There
appear to have been others besides Johnson who
could not read it through even in 1769. The
Dowager Countess Gower wrote from Bill Hill
in Berkshire to Mrs. Delany in August of that
year :—

I’ll change my subject to y® witty and gay: ffortune has
bless’d y® fforest w't y° genius’s of y® age. Mrs. Montagu,
Mrs. Carter, Mrs. Dunbar, &c. &c. and L3 Littleton are at
Suiiing Wells, and sport sentim®* from morn till noon, from
noon to dewy eve. I molest ’em not, contenting myself in my
rustick simplicity, ’tis a stupidity y* may be felt I don’t doubt
—but not by me. Mrs. Montagu has commenced aunthor, in
vindication of Shakspear, who wants none, therefore her per-
formance must be deem’d a work of supererogation; some
commend it. I’ll have y® because I can throw it aside w®
I’m tired.

Mrs. Montagu had first entered the ranks of
authorship some nine years previously, when she
contributed (anonymously, of course) three con-
versations to her friend Lord Lyttelton’s Dialogues
of the Dead. These three dialogues may still be
read with a great deal more pleasure than her

essay on Shakespeare. No. xxvir in particular,
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between Mercury and a modern fine lady, is at
least as good as anything else in Lyttelton’s book.
Mercury calls upon Mrs. Modish to conduct her
across the Styx, and is flatly told that she cannot
possibly come, on account of her engagements.
When he answers that conjugal attachments and
maternal duties, however meritorious they may
be, cannot be accepted as an excuse, she sharply
tells him that she did not mean anything of that
kind, but if he will look on her chimney-piece he
will see that she is engaged to the play on Mon-
days, balls on Tuesdays, the opera on Saturdays,
and to card assemblies all the other days of the
week. She admits, in answer to his questions,
that late hours and fatigue give her the vapours,
and that she gets little pleasure out of seeing the
same thing over and over again; but her friends
had always told her diversions were necessary ;
and besides, she was ambitious to be thought
du bon-ton. *Bon-ton!’ exclaims Mercury, ‘what
is that, madam? Pray define it.” And Mrs.
Modish replies :—

Ohb, sir, excuse me; it is one of the privileges of the bon-ton
never to define, or be defined. It is the child and the parent
of jargon. It is—I can never tell you what it is: but I will
try to tell you what it is not. In conversation it is not wit;
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in manners it is not politeness; in behaviour it is not address;
but it is a little like them all. It can only belong to people
of a certain rank, who live in a certain manner, with certain
persons, who have not certain virtues, and who have certain
vices, and who inhabit a certain part of the town. Like a
place by courtesy, it gets an higher rank than the person can
claim, but which those who have a legal title to precedency
dare not dispute, for fear of being thought not to understand
the rules of politeness. Now, sir, I have told you as much as I
know of it, though I have admired and aimed at it all my life.

Mercury regrets to hear that she has neglected
her husband’s happiness and her children’s educa-
tion for this nothing which is called bon-ton. But
she hastens to assure him that she has spared no
expense on her daughters’ education; they have
had a dancing-master, a drawing-master, and a
French governess to teach them behaviour and
the French language. Mercury, unfortunately,
does not give us his views on the education of
girls, but contents himself with telling Mrs.
Modish that her system is calculated to make
her daughters ¢wives without conjugal affection,
and mothers without maternal care.” He is sorry
for the life Mrs. Modish has led, and sorry for
what she is likely to lead in the future; hinting
that she need not look for a Vauxhall and a
Ranelagh in the Elysian Fields, as Minos has
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little sympathy with the bon-ton, and will pro-
bably push the like of her into Tartarus! The
Mrs. Modish dialogue was a great favourite with
the town; and must certainly be admitted to be
both good sense and fine satire.

In 1772 she spent a few days with Burke at
Beaconsfield, finding the great man in his home
to be an industrious farmer, a polite husband, a
kind master, a charitable neighbour, and a most
excellent companion. ‘I have always found,” she
remarks, ‘that nothing is so gentle as the chief
out of war, nor so serene and simple as the states-
man out of place.” We are in the habit of think-
ing that it was our penny-post and halfpenny-
press which abolished the art of letter-writing ;
but in 1773 we find her complaining that the art
is already in its decline. In her early days, she
says, she was a punctual (and, she might have
added, prolific) correspondent; but lately she has

come to feel that letter-writing is wasted labour.

‘When newspapers only told weddings, births, and burials, a
letter from London bore some value; but now that the public
papers not only tell when men are born and dye, but every
folly they contrive to insert between those periods, the literary
correspondent has nothing left. Lies and dulness used to be
valued in manuscript, but printing has assumed a right over
the lies of the day and the amusements of the hour.
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Having no children of her own, Mrs. Montagu
displayed much interest in the welfare of her
nephews and nieces, endeavouring to have them
brought up according to her own notions of a
fitting education. They always stayed at one of
Mr. Montagu’s houses during their vacations, and
there are frequent kindly references to them
throughout the letters. She was also a very
capable woman of business. She declares that at
one time she nearly put her eyes out with accounts,
as that diligent person, her steward, expected her
at certain times of the year to devote many hours
a day to them. Her letters contain many refer-
ences to farming, as well as other cognate matters,
which show that she was a most industrious help-
mate to her husband. In December 1766 she

writes from Denton Castle, in Northumberland :—

Business has taken up much of my time, and as we had
farms to let against next May-day, and I was willing to see the
new colliery begin to trade to London before I left the country,
I had the prudence to get the better of my taste for society. I
had this day the pleasure of a letter from Billingsgate (a polite
part of the world for a lady to correspond with) that the first
ships which were then arrived were very much approved. At
Lynne they have also succeeded, and these are the two great coal
markets. So now,as soon as I can get all the ends and bottoms
of our business wound up, I shall set out for Hill Street.
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In 1775 Mr. Montagu died, leaving the whole of

his fortune, with the exception of a single legacy
of £3000, to his widow. Horace Walpole wrote to
Mason, in his usual flippant style, ¢ The husband of
Mrs. Montagu of Shakespeareshire is dead, and has
left her an estate of £7000 a year in her own power.
Will you come and be a candidate for her hand?
I conclude it will be given to a champion at some
Olympic games, and were I she, I would sooner
marry you than Pindar” Mrs. Montagu, however,
required nobody to manage her estate, or assist in
spending her money. A month or so after her
husband’s death we find her travelling north to deal
in person with her new possessions. ‘As Mr.
Montagu had been always a very good landlord,” she
tells her sister-in-law, ‘I thought it right to show
the good people they would have a kind landlady.’
She therefore went over her farms, made personal
acquaintance with the tenants, and invited them all
to dine with her at some neighbouring inn. The
Yorkshire farmers pleased her, as being a very
different sort from those to be found in the south of
England, the men more alert in their business, and
the wives and daughters less given to ape the fine
lady. And if her tenants knew their business, so,
apparently, did she know hers. ‘It is wickedness to
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let farms too dear,” she says, ‘but it is also folly to
let them too cheap.’ So she seems to have got as
much as she could for them, assuring herself that
her Yorkshire tenants, while always willing to give
as good a rent as their place deserved, were much
too well aware of the nature of the undertaking to
give any more. She did not even shrink from
visiting her colliery; although the folk in that
neighbourhood were much ‘too rustick’ for her
liking, and spoke a dialect that was ‘dreadful to the
nerves.” It took her some time to get reconciled to
seeing her fellow-creatures descend into the dark
regions of the earth, and she says she was much
comforted when she heard them singing in the pits.
It was one of her maxims that ‘nobody lives out of
the world who is fit to live in it’; and in 1781 she
began the building of Montagu House, her ‘palace’
as it came to be called, in Portman Square, where
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